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Making a difference
Kevin Cox
RSPB Chair

Kevin Cox reflects on the RSPB’s ability to tackle the 
threats nature faces in a challenging world�

Since being appointed as Chair of the RSPB’s Council 
at last year’s AGM, I’ve had a unique and privileged 
opportunity to see examples of our work throughout the 
UK. One of the characteristics of much of this work is 
that it is long-term. Nature’s recovery takes time but we 
persevere until we achieve our goals. 

We are pressing ahead with a range of transformational 
work, all supported by our world-leading science. This 
includes peatland restoration across the hills and moors 
throughout the UK; projects to save migrant birds such 
as turtle doves and swifts; and work to protect marine 
resources around the UK’s Overseas Territories. These 
are just a few of our key projects, all undertaken with the 
assurance that we are working on the highest priorities for 
nature conservation. Over the past year we have reviewed 
all our key priority programmes to ensure that the financial 
support you, our members and supporters, give us is 
working harder than ever.

As we focus on the areas where we intend to make a real 
difference, we’ve continued to forge new and exciting 
partnerships with other conservation and environmental 
organisations, businesses, industry and funders. The Back 
from the Brink project, funded by the Heritage Lottery 
Fund, led by Natural England and involving the RSPB and 
seven other organisations, is already tackling projects 
to restore species across England and engage people 
in the work to create a vibrant and long-term legacy. 
We’ve also joined forces with Greener UK to campaign 
for the best deal for nature as the UK exits the European 
Union. Whether we are calling for an ambitious 25-year 
Environment Plan for England, the need for an effective 
environmental watchdog or the best outcome for wildlife-
friendly farming, we are stronger together.

We also recognise the vital importance of inspiring future 
generations. Our partnership with Aldi has already given 
over 330,000 children the opportunity to connect with 
nature. Because of their support we have been able to 
scale-up the level of our ambition and work with 1,500 
schools across 17 cities.

I am also delighted that this year we have acquired our 
first nature reserve in the New Forest National Park. 
RSPB Franchises Lodge is 1,000 acres of woodland, wood 
pasture and heathland and home to a rich diversity of 
wildlife. The purchase was made possible partly through 
a gift in respect of a settlement between the previous 
owners and HMRC, the first time RSPB has been the 
beneficiary of such a gift. We are also grateful for the 
financial support we’ve received from a generous legacy, 
the New Forest National Park Authority and the Friends of 
the New Forest.

The external environment is challenging: both in terms 
of the uncertain future posed by the decision to exit 
the European Union and the continuing squeeze on 
the economy that inevitably reflects on the fundraising 
environment faced by all charities, not just the RSPB. It is 
a sign of real strength that the RSPB’s amazing staff and 
volunteers have continued to deliver outstanding results 
whilst, at the same time, ensuring we can make targeted 
savings to maintain our financial reserves.

I wish to pay tribute to those staff and volunteers and to 
thank you, our members and supporters, who give us the 
confidence and financial support to continue our work. You 
responded wonderfully to the “Say Yes” campaign, driven 
by the GDPR legislation now in place, which puts us all in 
charge of our digital identity – 91% of those responding 
said Yes to hearing from us. Thank you.
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The accounts are presented here in a format that gives the reader  
an insight into the main numbers with some explanatory comments�

RSPB accounts in context

Raising money for charitable purposes: 

2018 2017
Income Cost) Available for  

charitable  
purposes

Available for  
charitable  
purposes

£m £m) £m £m

Membership subscriptions & donations 51.2 (10.6) 40.6 40.9
Legacies 30.4 (1.1) 29.3 33.7
Grants, corporates and trusts 26.7 (4.1) 22.6 16.6
Trading 22.4 (21.4) 1.0 2.6
Land income and fees for services 7.1 (0.0) 7.1 4.1
Gain on disposal of fixed assets 0.5 (0.0) 0.5 0.1

_____ _____ _____ _____
Net Operating Income 138.3 (37.2) 101.1 98.0

Financial income and investment gains 1.0 (0.1) 0.9 6.5
_____ _____ _____ _____

Total net resources available for charitable activities 139.3 (37.3) 102.0 104.5

Net Operating Income grew by £3.1 million to £101.1 
million. Total net resources available for charitable activities 
fell by £2.5 million with the prior year benefiting from an 
exceptional stock market performance which boosted the 
value of our investments by £3.0 million and a one-off sale 
of a long-held investment property for £3.0 million.

• Membership subscription and donation income was 
steady at £51.2 million. The support of our members 
is key to the successful delivery of our charitable 
work and the way in which we communicate with 
our members is an essential part of that relationship. 
In May 2018 the General Data Protection Regulation 
was introduced and we committed to a programme 
of communication with our members and supporters 
to encourage them to “opt-in” to continue to receive 
communications from us. The campaign was well-
received, with 91% of respondents choosing to opt-in. 

 • Legacy income fell by £4.3 million to £30.4 million. 
Given the nature of legacy income to fluctuate year-on-
year, some reduction was to be anticipated following 
a record year in 2017. However, looking forward, 
underlying legacy income remains very strong, with 
the value of legacies notified to us but neither received 
or included in this year’s income increasing to  
£24.0 million from £17.8 million at the end of last 
financial year.

•  Grants, corporates and trust income grew by  
£5.9 million. This includes a gift of land in the New 
Forest with a value of £3.5 million. The balance of the 
increase reflects the funding profile of large multi-year 
grants which can fluctuate from year to year.

•  Trading income was £0.5 million lower, due to the 
closure of the Loch Lomond retail operation and 
the ending of our birdcare supply contract with 
Sainsbury’s. This was partly offset by the strong 
performances of both Mail Order, with sales up  
£0.5 million, and catering at Arne, South Stack and  
St Aidan’s, also with sales up £0.1 million. The cost of 
income generation increased by £1.1 million due to a 
combination of higher operating costs and investment 
in a new e-commerce platform to support the 
development of our mail order operation. 

•  Land income and fees for services increased by 
£3.0 million, including funding from Nottinghamshire 
County Council of £2.0 million in respect of the new 
Sherwood Forest visitor centre.

£102.0 million available for charitable purposes
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In addition to generating income and spending it  
on important conservation work, we are also  

responsible for the assets and liabilities shown  
overleaf.

The Surplus arises after charging depreciation of  
£4.0 million but excludes the acquisition cost of nature 
reserves, visitor facilities and other assets of £10.7 million. 
Treating the cost of these assets as an operating expense 
would result in a deficit of £4.1 million, rather than a 
surplus of £2.6 million, and some of our financial reserves 
have been utilised to fund this deficit. Whilst free financial 
reserves are lower as a result of the deficit, they remain 
well within the acceptable range set by RSPB Council and 
the appropriate steps are being taken to ensure that such 
reserves remain within this range.

The four categories of expenditure describe how 
we approach the delivery of conservation work and 
engagement. For more information on our activities, 
please see the Achievements, challenges and future plans 
section of our Trustees’ Report and Accounts, our Annual 
Review and our website: rspb.org.uk

•  Our management plans protect and enhance habitats 
and protect species across all our nature reserves. 
The £1.7 million increase in nature reserve expenditure 
reflects the investment being made in the new 
Sherwood Forest visitor centre.

•  Our world-class conservation work is rooted in sound 
science and evidence. We lead partnerships and 
encourage policy-makers to take the right decisions for 
nature – to have impact at scale at home and overseas. 

•  We inspire and enable everyone to do their bit – 
especially our members and supporters – because the 
challenge is too big to overcome alone. Expenditure 
in this area was £2.9 million lower reflecting a scaling 
back of our investment in brand raising awareness to 
allow for increased investment in the membership 
Opt-In campaign.

•  We look after our million-plus members and other 
supporters, keeping their personal details secure and 
up-to- date and informing them about our work. The 
Opt-in campaign undertaken to ensure that members 
have control over how we contact them was the main 
driver behind the £1.8 million increase in Supporter 
Care expenditure. 

2018) 2017)
£m) £m)

Managing RSPB nature reserves (38.2) (36.5)
Research, policy and advisory (36.6) (36.7)
Education and inspiring support (18.4) (21.3)
Supporter care (6.2) (4.4)

_____) _____)
Total expenditure (99.4) (98.9)

_____) _____)
Surplus 2.6( 5.6)

_____) _____)

Expenditure for charitable purposes:

RSPB accounts in context
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• Protecting land by acquiring it is one of the best ways of 
protecting the long-term security of habitats for nature. 
During the year we added 832 hectares to the land 
under our protection via £4.0 million of land acquisitions 
and a generous gift of land and buildings at Franchises 
Lodge worth £3.5 million. We now manage 218 nature 
reserves covering an area of 158,283 hectares.

•  The Pension liability relating to the defined benefit 
pension scheme that was closed in March 2017 
continues to fluctuate – at year-end, the liability had 
fallen from £90.3 million in 2017 to £73.6 million in 
2018. This reduction was driven by a small increase 
in interest rates and a reduction in inflation which 
reduced the value of the pension scheme liabilities 
and also included £5.0 million of deficit payments. 

Assets and liabilities:

2018) 2017)
£m) £m)

Nature reserves – land and buildings 202.7 196.3)
Equipment 4.3 4.1)

_____ _____)
Total 207.0 200.4)

Pension liability (73.6) (90.3)

Cash and investments 25.2 35.8)
Stock, debtors and creditors 15.4 11.2)

_____ _____)
Total representing Available financial reserves 40.6 47.0)

_____ _____)
Total 174.0 157.1)

_____ _____)

The RSPB Trustees have agreed a long-term deficit 
recovery plan with the Pension Trustees which 
minimises the impact on our conservation work. 
The Pension scheme operates a Liability Driven 
Investment strategy to match returns from assets to 
the underlying pension liabilities. This is underpinned 
by an agreement with the Pension Trustees that in the 
unlikely event of the RSPB being unable to meet its 
obligations to the scheme, specified land with a value 
of £57.0 million would pass to the Pension Fund.

‘Available financial reserves’ are held for the  
following purposes 

•  We are committed to putting income and financial 
reserves to work as soon as possible. “Free financial 
reserves” are held at a modest level to maximise the 
funds available for immediate conservation needs. 

Amount held for future purposes:

2018) 2017)
£m) £m)

Available financial reserves 40.6) 47.0)
Held for specific purposes (11.8) (13.8)

_____) _____)
Free financial reserves 28.8( 33.2)

Representing future expenditure cover of 14 weeks) 16 weeks)

•  Our financial projections anticipate that we will 
maintain “free financial reserves” at a level 
representing future expenditure cover of between  
8 and 16 weeks.

RSPB accounts in context
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Trustees’ report 

Governance and structure 

 
Legal structure 

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (‘the RSPB’ 
or ‘the Charity’) is a non-statutory body incorporated by 
Royal Charter. The Charity originated in 1889 and the 
Charter was granted in 1904. The Charter and Statutes 
together provide the rules and guidelines under which 
the RSPB operates. Supplemental Charters were 
granted by Her Majesty the Queen in 1957 and 1996. 
Amendments to the Charter and the Statutes were 
approved by the Privy Council on 16 July 2014. 

The headquarters are in Sandy, Bedfordshire, with 
country headquarters in Wales (RSPB Cymru), Scotland 
(RSPB Scotland) and Northern Ireland (RSPB Northern 
Ireland), regional offices in England, Scotland and 
Wales, and nature reserves throughout the United 
Kingdom. 
 
The RSPB’s membership stands at over one million 
members, making it one of the largest voluntary wildlife 
conservation organisations in the world. 
 
The RSPB is the UK Partner of BirdLife International 
(registered charity number 1042125), the global 
partnership that strives to conserve birds, their habitats 
and global biodiversity and works with people towards 
sustainability in the use of natural resources. 
 

Patron 

Her Majesty the Queen 

Registration 

Charity registered in England and Wales (number 
207076) and in Scotland (number SC037654). 

Registered office 

The Lodge  
Sandy  
Bedfordshire SG19 2DL 

President  

Mrs Miranda Krestovnikoff  

Vice Presidents  

Dr Elizabeth Andrews MBE DL 
Sir David Attenborough OM CH CVO CBE FRS 
Mr Nick Baker 
Viscount Blakenham  
Mr Adrian Darby OBE 
Mr Ian Darling FRICS OBE 
Ms Kate Humble 
Professor Sir John Lawton CBE FRS 
The Earl of Lindsay 
Sir John Lister-Kaye Bt 
Professor Ian Newton OBE FRS FRSE 
Mr Bill Oddie OBE 
Mr Chris Packham 
Mr Julian Pettifer OBE  
Sir Graham Wynne CBE 
Baroness Young of Old Scone 

Governing body 

The governing body is the RSPB Council which 
comprises 18 charity trustee posts (referred to as 
Council Members). These include the Chair of the 
Council, the Treasurer, the Chairs of the Country 
Advisory Committees, three general Council Members 
and 10 ordinary Council Members.  
 
The Council may nominate any person to the honorary 
office of President and appoint any person as Vice 
President. The President and Vice-Presidents are not 
Council Members and take no part in making or 
influencing decisions of the Council. 
 
Council sets policy and is responsible for the conduct of 
the RSPB’s affairs and for ensuring that the Charity 
operates in accordance with the Royal Charter, the 
Statutes and the law. Policy is also influenced by 
Country Advisory Committees. 
 
The Charity operates a number of committees with 
specific roles, each reporting directly to Council.  
The committees meet four times each year.  
 
Conservation Committee approves conservation 
policy, considers and approves conservation 
objectives and monitors progress against these. 
 
Communications Committee considers and 
recommends to Council policies and strategies 
concerning the public reputation of the RSPB, its 
education and fundraising activities and its 
communications, including the role and development 
of adult and junior membership, and monitors 
progress. 
 
Finance and Audit Committee reviews financial 
performance, the financial plan and the internal and 
external audit processes and considers the overall 
approach to risk management with oversight of a 
detailed risk register. 
 
Nominations Committee reviews the pattern of trustee 
retirement, identifies the skills and experience 
required to ensure Council’s effectiveness, oversees 
the checks to be conducted prior to nomination and 
scrutinises the applications and nominations received. 
The committee consists of five Council Members and 
two members of staff. 
 
In the event of a vacancy, new ‘general’ trustees and 
the Chairs of Council and the Country Advisory 
Committees are nominated by Council. New ‘ordinary’ 
trustees are nominated by RSPB Members or Council. 
New Council Members are elected for a five-year term 
of office by the membership at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). 
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Country Advisory Committees Policy and the impact 
the Charity has locally, is influenced by the 
committees for Northern Ireland, Scotland, Wales and 
England. These committees consist of a majority of 

non-trustees and are chaired by a Council Member. 
They also take on any duties specifically delegated to 
them from time to time.

 
 

Role 
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Council Chairman Professor Steve Ormerod FIEEM 
FLSW FRSB (retired 7 October 2017) 
Mr Kevin Cox (appointed 7 October 
2017) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Treasurer and Finance & Audit 
Chairman 

Mr Graeme Wallace BA Econ      

Conservation Chairman Mr David Baldock      

Communications Chairman Mr Nick Cross      

Committee for Northern Ireland 
Chairman 

Mr Clive Mellon LLB (Hons)      

Committee for Scotland Chairman Professor Colin Galbraith BSc PhD      

Committee for Wales Chairman Dr Havard Prosser (retired 7 October 
2017) 
Professor Sir Adrian Webb (appointed 
12 December 2017)* 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

   

Trustee Professor Andrew Balmford FRS      

Trustee Mr John Bullock      

Trustee Helen Browning       

Trustee Mrs Sal Cooke OBE (retired 7 October 
2017) 

     

Trustee Mr David Cramp      

Trustee Professor Rosie Hails       

Trustee 
 

Professor David Macdonald CBE DSc 
FRSE (retired 7 October 2017) 

     

Trustee Viscount Chris Mills (appointed 7 
October 2017) 

     

Trustee Mr Stephen Moss      

Trustee Sir John Randall (resigned 27 August 
2017) 

     

Trustee Mr Neal Ransome      

Trustee Mr Martin Saunders (appointed 7 
October 2017) 

     

Trustee Ms Jennifer Ullman      

 
*Council Member appointed by Council as casual vacancy under Statute 4.7.1 
 

Management Board 

The day-to-day management of the Charity is delegated by Council to the Chief Executive and carried out by 
directors within the Management Board which consists of: 
 

Chief Executive Dr Mike Clarke  
Director, Conservation Mr Martin Harper  
Director, Corporate Services 
Director, Fundraising and Communications 

Ms Louise Parr-Morley (left 5 August 2018)  
Ms Rebecca Munro 

Director, People Ms Ann Kiceluk  
Director, International Operations Dr Tim Stowe (retired 7 April 2017) 
Director, Operations Mr Shaun Thomas  
Director, Scotland 
Interim Director, Finance 

Mr Stuart Housden OBE (retired 20 October 2017) 
Mr Russell Hollinshead (appointed 21 May 2018) 
 

Trustees’ report
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Principal professional advisers  

Bankers 
Lloyds Bank PLC 
249 Silbury Boulevard 
Secklow Gate West 
Milton Keynes 
Buckinghamshire MK9 1NA 
 
Co-operative Bank PLC 
4th Floor  
9 Prescot Street 
London E1 8BE 

Independent auditor 
Crowe U.K LLP 
Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors 
St. Bride’s House 
10 Salisbury Square 
London EC4Y 8EH 

Insurance broker 
Griffiths & Armour Limited 
12 Princes Parade 
 Princes Dock 
 Liverpool L3 1BG 
 

Investment adviser 
Cambridge Associates Limited 
80 Victoria Street 
Cardinal Place 
London SW1E 5JL 
 

Pension actuary 
Mercer Limited 
One Christchurch Way 
Woking GU21 6JG  

 

Pension administrator 
Lane Clark Peacock LLP 
95 Wigmore Street 
London W1U 1DQ 

Legal advisers 
Clifford Chance LLP 
10 Upper Bank Street 
London E14 5JJ 
 
Hewitsons LLP 
Shakespeare House 
42 Newmarket Road 
Cambridge CB5 8EP 
 
Mills & Reeve LLP 
Botanic House 
100 Hills Road 
Cambridge CB2 1PH 

 
Turcan Connell  
Princes Exchange 
1 Earl Grey Street 
Edinburgh EH3 9EE 
 
Reed Smith LLP 
The Broadgate Tower 
20 Primrose Street 
London EC2A 2RS 
 
Withers LLP 
16 Old Bailey 
London EC4M 7EG 
 
Freeths LLP 
Cumberland Court 
80 Mount Street 
Nottingham NG1 6HH 
 
Charles Russell Speechlys LLP 
5 Fleet Place 
London 
EC4M 7RD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Trustees’ report
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Trustee effectiveness 
 
Following their election to Council, each trustee 
receives a briefing pack outlining their role, duties 
and accountabilities, together with information 
about the RSPB, its policies, structures and work. 
Each trustee completes a register of interests and 
related party transactions: this register is updated 
annually and whenever any changes occur. An 
induction day, taking a strategic look at the roles 
and responsibilities of trustees and management, is 
provided to each new trustee. They are also 
offered opportunities to learn more about specialist 
areas of our work, through individual meetings with 
staff and site visits to nature reserves throughout 
the UK. A special weekend event is held each year 
in an area of high nature conservation importance, 
focusing on species and habitat management work 
being undertaken. Similar events are held for the 
Country Advisory Committees.  
 
An effectiveness review is carried out annually, 
allowing each trustee to comment confidentially 
and the results are considered in the light of best 
practice in the charity sector. 
 
Charity Governance Code 
 
The new Charity Governance Code was published 
in July 2017 with the support of the Charity 
Commission for England and Wales. The Code is a 
practical tool to help trustees achieve high 
standards of governance. The Code has seven 
basic principles: organizational purpose; 
leadership; integrity; decision making, risk and 
control; board effectiveness; diversity; openness 
and accountability. It sets out both core outcomes, 
and recommended practices.  
 
RSPB Council and its Finance and Audit 
Committee has reviewed the Code in detail and 
strongly supports the seven principles. Council is 
confident that RSPB applies the Code effectively 
and that it already delivers the core outcomes 
through the integrated adoption of the majority of 
the recommended practices. For example, Council 
uses the Seven Principles of Public Life, known as 
the Nolan Principles (an application of the principle 
of integrity) as one means to review its own ways 
of working (an approach to the principle of board 
effectiveness). The Code is also used to structure 
the induction of new members of Council. 
 
Following the review a number of 
recommendations were made in order to narrow 
any remaining gaps between the Code’s 
recommendations and the RSPB’s current policies 
and procedures. Council is committed to seeing 
these taken forward in so far as possible, and the 
work to implement these recommendations 
continues. 
 

 

 

 

Statement of trustees’ responsibilities 

The trustees are responsible for preparing the 
Trustees’ Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with FRS102 - The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland.  

The law applicable to charities in England, Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland requires the trustees 
to prepare financial statements for each financial 
year which give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Charity and the group and of the 
incoming resources and application of resources of 
the group for that period. In preparing these 
financial statements, the trustees are required to:  

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently; 

• observe the methods and principles in the Charities 
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP); 

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; 

• state whether applicable accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements;  

• prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Charity will continue in business.  

 
The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Charity’s transactions, disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Charity and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the 
reporting and legal regulations and the provisions 
of the Charity’s constitution as set out in the 
Charter and Statutes. 

They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Charity and the group and for taking 
reasonable steps to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities.  

Oversight of remuneration 

All staff, including the Chief Executive and the 
Executive Board, are covered by the same 
remuneration policy which is based on 
externally-benchmarked salary bands. The 
remuneration policy is approved by Council and 
subject to periodic review. To ensure clear 
governance and transparency, the remuneration 
of the Chief Executive is overseen by a 
committee comprising the Treasurer and Chairs 
of Conservation and Communication; chaired by 
the Chair of Council. The performance of the 
Chief Executive is subject to formal appraisal by 
the committee against previously agreed 
measures and is discussed at an annual 
appraisal meeting. Any recommendation for 
progression is made in line with the RSPB’s pay 
policy for all employees. The Chief Executive is 
responsible for overseeing the salaries of the 
Executive Board in line with the same policy. 

Trustees’ report
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Risk management 

The trustees are responsible for identifying and 
managing the major risks facing the Charity. Risk 
management is considered in every aspect of 
RSPB’s work. Managing large areas of countryside, 
much of it visited by many people, entails risk and 
demands constant attention. In response to the 
recommendations set out in the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland (FRS102), the trustees consider the risk 
register on an annual basis, with committees 
receiving more frequent reports. The trustees review 
risk in its broadest sense and consider anything that 
might alter or undermine the capacity of the Charity 
to fulfil its charitable objectives. 
 
The register provides a comprehensive view of the 
following areas of risk: 

• our strategy; 

• our responsibility to staff, supporters, volunteers 
and visitors; 

• our reputation; 

• physical assets (including data and financial 
assets); 

• retaining and maintaining know-how; 

• the external environment; 

• our sources of income. 
 
This annual risk review assesses each of the major 
risks and the effectiveness of the arrangements for 
managing them. The review is scrutinised by Council. 
Following the most recent review in June 2017, the 
trustees confirmed that they are satisfied with such 
arrangements and identified a number of strategic risks. 
 
Council reports that the principle risks that the RSPB 
faces in the year ahead represent, by their nature, both 
opportunity and challenge. The RSPB will work to limit 
any possible negative impact on the delivery of our 
charitable objects and to secure all possible positive 
outcomes. The principle and strategic risks are 
identified and the response to each are more fully 
explained in the Achievements, challenges and future 
plans section of this report. 
 

Objectives, activities and public benefit 

The objectives of the RSPB as set out in the Charter 
are to: 
 
1) promote the conservation of biological 

diversity and the natural environment for the 
public benefit, in particular but not exclusively 
by:  

a) conserving wild birds and other wildlife, 
and the environment on which they 
depend; and 

b) protecting, restoring and re-creating 
habitats. This includes raising public 
understanding and awareness of, and 
providing information on, such matters. 

2) advance education of the public in 
conservation of the natural environment. 

 
The RSPB recognises that birds and the rest of 
nature are interconnected – they are all part of the 
web of life, or biological diversity. In addition, our 

own future is directly linked to the health of our 
environment, the home we share. The health and 
resilience of our society and economy is dependent 
on the health and sustainability of our ecosystems. 
 
In common with other charities, our desire is to make 
things better for the public good by both tackling the 
causes of harm as well as directly helping to save 
nature from that harm. We believe that we will have 
the greatest impact if our strategy is informed by the 
values of our supporters but also by our 
understanding of the evidence of the state of the 
natural world. 
 
The trustees confirm that they have referred to the 
guidance contained in the Charity Commission’s 
general guidance on public benefit when reviewing 
objectives and activities which are described in the 
section “Achievements, challenges and future plans” 
on page 14. 
 
We have a range of means of achieving our objectives 
and public benefit, combining them to best effect. For 
the purposes of preparing the accounts, these means 
are grouped under four main headings: Managing 
RSPB nature reserves, Research, policy and advisory, 
Education and inspiring support, and Supporter care.  

Managing RSPB nature reserves 

• We manage nature reserves, which are home 
to populations of 80% of the most rare or 
threatened bird species in the UK. 

• We acquire new reserves, following a Council-
agreed strategy, and devote resources to 
safeguarding and recreating habitats. 

• We provide facilities, including classrooms and 
viewing areas, to enhance the visitor 
experience on our reserves. 

Research, policy and advisory  

• We integrate work across the UK, in the UK 
Overseas Territories, and internationally. All of 
our conservation work is underpinned by 
research and investigation, much of which is 
carried out by our scientists and specialist 
advisers. 

• Birds and their habitats are affected by a wide 
range of human activity. Our policy work 
therefore covers a broad range of issues, from 
agriculture to energy, transport, overseas aid, 
education and the economy. 

• We seek to influence land-use and economic 
policies so that the environment is at the heart 
of all Government decisions. 

• We defend and promote the implementation of 
laws and policies designed to protect wildlife. 

Education and inspiring support 

• We work with the support of our members and 
other supporters to use their voice most 
effectively for nature conservation. 

• We seek to connect young people to nature at 
all stages of their development through their 
formal education and their leisure.  
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Supporter care 

• We provide services to our members and 
supporters and respond to more than 270,000 
enquiries each year. 

• We sustain our relationships with around two 
million individuals including members, supporters 
and volunteers. 

• We send our members a magazine to keep them 
aware of, and involved with, our work. 

• Our website receives around 20 million visits 
each year. 

Fundraising activities 

Generating funds 

• We receive most of our financial support from 
individuals through a range of activities. RSPB 
supporters are the foundation of everything we 
do. 

• We aim to build lasting support from institutional 
bodies. These include statutory grant funders, 
trusts and corporate businesses. 

• Much of what we do to deliver conservation also 
generates income. This ranges from land and 
farming income through to the sale of research 
to other appropriate organisations. 

• Our trading operation focuses on the sale of 
bird care products, optics and educational 
material to support our work. 

Giving nature a home is only possible thanks to the 
generosity of our supporters and members. 
 
Our promise to our supporters is that; "Saving 
nature is the motivation for everything we do. We 
are dedicated to inspiring every generation to have 
a lifelong commitment to the natural world. We 
always seek to improve how we work and welcome 
your feedback. We fundraise in a fair and 
responsible way and ensure funds are spent in the 
most effective way to save birds and wildlife. We 
show our gratitude for your money, time and the 
action you take for nature. We share with you the 
latest news of what you are helping us to achieve, 
and give you control over how you hear from us." 
To achieve our objectives we have to raise vital 
funds by carrying out fundraising. Our staff do this 
with the help of carefully selected professional 
fundraisers and commercial participators.  

• Professional fundraisers are fundraising 
agencies or third-party service providers who 
act as agents in raising funds on the Charity’s 
behalf.  

• Commercial participators are usually 
businesses who encourage the sale of their 
goods or services on the basis that the Charity 
will receive funding as a result.  

In all cases, we make sure we have contractual 
arrangements in place with these fundraising 
partners that set out the standards and obligations 
that must be met in all our fundraising activities. 

We work closely with all our fundraising partners to 
ensure that, together, we act in accordance with 

the high standards that both the RSPB and the 
public expect. We regularly monitor the quality of 
all outbound telephone marketing calls and conduct 
‘mystery shopping’ surveys with our face-to-face 
fundraisers. We seek feedback from all new 
members to understand their experience of joining 
us, thus identifying any areas where we can make 
further improvements.  

As part of our promise, we ensure that fundraising 
is conducted to the highest quality and that 
practices and procedures are in place and closely 
adhered to – particularly in protecting individuals 
who may be in vulnerable circumstances. All RSPB 
fundraisers are properly trained and we have set 
clear guidance to help them respond to a 
vulnerable person’s needs.  

The RSPB is a member of the Institute of 
Fundraising – we participate in its Public 
Fundraising Certification Programme – and the 
Direct Marketing Association, and is registered with 
the Fundraising Regulator. Alongside our high 
standards, where possible, we go beyond their 
Codes of Practice to ensure that, in our fundraising 
efforts, supporters have the best possible 
experience.  

The RSPB complies with the Data Protection Act 
and the Information Commissioner’s guides and 
code. Significant changes to the Data Protection 
legislation in the UK took place on 25 May 2018, 
when the EU General Data Protection Regulation 
came into force. The RSPB has put in place the 
processes to ensure that the RSPB is compliant 
with the new requirements. RSPB members have 
been informed of the new requirements and been 
given the opportunity to express their preferences 
on how their personal data are handled.  

Whilst we endeavour to provide an exemplary 
service, we do not always get it right. Last year we 
received 49 complaints (183 in 2016/17) about our 
fundraising from just over 20 million conversations, 
by phone, post, email, SMS or face-to-face. Each 
complaint was fully investigated and improvements 
made to allow us to retain supporter trust, improve 
our service and together fight to save nature.  

Volunteers 

In all activities, we receive extensive assistance from 
volunteers, who are at the heart of what we do and 
achieve; without their help, our work would be greatly 
diminished.  
 
Volunteers founded the RSPB in 1889 and they are 
still fundamental to our work. They carry out a variety 
of roles, from practical conservation and field 
surveys, to support for office and retail activities. In 
addition, hundreds of thousands of people put time 
and enthusiasm into the RSPB’s citizen science 
projects, such as the Big Garden Birdwatch. 
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Modern Slavery Act 2015 
 
The Modern Slavery Act 2015 (MSA) is aimed at 
combating crimes of slavery and human trafficking. 
Section 54 of the MSA requires commercial 
organisations (including charities) having a global 
turnover above £36 million to publish an annual 
slavery and human trafficking statement for each 
financial year that ends on or after 31 March 2016. In 
this context, turnover means the amount derived from 
the provision of goods and services falling within the 
ordinary activities of the commercial organisation. 
Although the RSPB and its subsidiaries do not yet 
reach the turnover threshold for compliance, the 
RSPB is keen to voluntarily comply with the MSA. 
The RSPB’s Ethical and Environmental Procurement 
Policy sets out labour standards expected of its 
suppliers including that there is no forced, bonded or 
involuntary prison labour. The RSPB’s standard 
terms and conditions require suppliers and recipients 
of funding to undertake that they comply with the 
Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
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A world richer in nature
In the year we celebrated 
70 years of conservation at 
Minsmere, our network of 
nature reserves goes from 
strength to strength� 

New reserves in the New Forest, the 
Humber and Cannock Chase are 
among the highlights alongside 
extending Canvey Wick in Essex 

which we run with our partners 
Buglife and the Land Trust. Franchises 
Lodge, near Nomansland in Wiltshire, is 

nearly 1,000 acres (386 ha) of nature-rich 
woodland that provides a unique opportunity to 
create a natural link between two internationally 
important areas on the edge of the New Forest. 
This acquisition has been facilitated through a gift 
in respect of a settlement between the previous 
owners and HMRC, a generous legacy, and support 
from the New Forest National Park Authority and 
the Friends of the New Forest. This is undoubtedly 
one of the most important acquisitions in the 
RSPB’s history, giving us the opportunity to 
safeguard the forest and its wildlife.

We are now privileged to care for 218 nature 
reserves covering an area of 158,283 hectares – 
adding 832 ha in the 2017/18 financial year.

Of course, merely being responsible for nature 
reserves through ownership or management is not 
enough; we judge ourselves by the contribution 
we make to the wildlife populations that depend on 
our reserves. Over 93% of all UK’s land mammal 
species occur on RSPB reserves and 
in England our lowland wet 
grassland sites support 30% 
of the country’s nesting 
lapwings; for redshank it’s 
50% and three out of 
four snipe nesting 
in England are 
found on 
our sites. 

While our reserves are acting as “arks” for these 
species, their loss from the wider countryside is 
of concern. Minsmere itself was a last refuge for 
bitterns when their population was at a low ebb in 
the 1980s, but in 2017 we hit a new high with 77 
“booming” male birds recorded at more sites than 
at any time since monitoring started in 1994. 

Restoring lost coastlines and bringing back the 
wildlife that can call them home has been a feature 
of the year, with work completed at Hesketh 
Outmarsh on the Ribble estuary in Lancashire, 
further developments at Wallasea Island in Essex 
and a new project underway in Poole Harbour at 
Arne Moors. But we know it’s not enough, as we 
are losing intertidal habitats at a faster rate than they 
are being re-created. Consequently, we launched 
the Sustainable shores report to highlight the 
growing challenge and the opportunities available to 
find the next areas that can be restored.

We completed a much-needed assessment of 
protected areas in the UK’s Overseas Territories and 
our support and advocacy in the Asian–Australasian 
flyway has resulted in welcome progress towards 
protecting and restoring coastal sites in China, vital 
for the survival of spoon-billed sandpipers and many 
other migrant waders and waterfowl.

The RSPB is a leader in the field of species 
conservation and our toolkit of diagnosis, trialling 
recovery methods, boosting populations and 
ultimately recovering species fortunes is producing 
excellent results. Restoring islands to be safe 
for nesting seabirds is a global priority and we 
are at the heart of projects in the UK and on the 
UK’s Overseas Territories – and we’ve had some 
spectacular results on the Shiants in the Minch off 
north-west Scotland, where we’re celebrating the 
recent news that the islands have been declared 

officially rat-free.
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Spoon-billed sandpiper

We’re restoring coastal 
sites in China, vital  

for the survival  
of spoon-billed 

sandpipers� 

Achievements and challenges
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In the South Atlantic we are embarking on one 
of our most challenging projects ever. On Gough 
Island, part of Tristan da Cunha, non-native mice 
(introduced by humans) are having a devastating 
impact on the globally-threatened Tristan albatrosses 
and other seabirds. Without action to eradicate 
the mice, which eat the young birds, at least one 
species may become globally extinct. 

Major risks:
• The range of issues that face and challenge the 

natural world is increasing and this at a time 
when securing the resources necessary to 
tackle the threats is getting harder

• The changing relationship between the UK and 
the EU results in jeopardy and opportunity for 
nature because of policy, legal, institutional and 
constitutional uncertainty: examples of potential 
impacts include a weakened legal framework for 
conservation and reduction in available funding

• Increased global instability places limits on our 
ability to work and influence internationally, 
in particular where trust in evidence-based 
decision making becomes undermined,  
reducing our impact and causing dissonance 
with principle-led activism. 

Describing our species recovery approach

P
opulation

Time

Sustainable
management

Recovery
management

Testing 
Solutions

Diagnosis

Our response:
• Following an internal 

review we have confirmed 
that our resources are focused 
on the highest priorities and that 
our geographical remit is tightened 
to ensure we make the greatest 
difference for the nature we share 
across the East Atlantic flyway, and 
throughout the UK’s Overseas Territories

• We will undertake advocacy for close 
alignment of standards between UK and 
EU and work to build a progressive domestic 
regulatory framework. We will use economic 
tools to develop scenarios for asset values and 
make the case for Natural Capital Accounting

• We will continue to support BirdLife 
International and clearly identify the most 
effective areas in which to work. We will utilise 
and celebrate science and evidence, adjusting 
how this is expressed to reflect the disposition 
of different target audiences.

On Gough Island, Tristan 
da Cunha, non-native mice are 
threatening the futures of young 
Tristan albatrosses� 

Peter R
yan

Peter R
yan

Albatross chicks being attacked by mice                      Our ideal approach to species recovery

Achievements and challenges



Trustees’ report and accounts 2017-1816

Growing support  
for nature
The support of our members 
are the very foundations upon 
which the RSPB and all we 
achieve are built� 

The way we communicate with our members 
and supporters has always been fundamental to 
that relationship and so we have fully embraced 
the principles behind the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) which came fully into force on 
25 May 2018. We committed to a full programme 
of work and communication with our members 
and supporters to encourage them to confirm 
their communication preferences. The “Say Yes” 
campaign was carefully designed to put members 
and supporters in control of how we contact them 
and ensure we can rely on their continued interest 
and support. The campaign was well-received 
with 91% of respondents opting-in to at least one 
channel of communication. It is in this context that 
it is heartening that the year-end membership figure 
held up strongly finishing the year at 1,219,308, 3,677 
behind last year’s record number of 1,222,985.

Our members and supporters are, of course, 
far more than simply a source of income. Their 
involvement in campaigning is a crucial element 
in building a persuasive case. The long-running 
battle to save Lodge Hill and its nightingales from 
housing development received a boost when the 
planning application was withdrawn. However, the 
campaign continues both to influence the policies 
contained within the local plan and to prepare for an 
inevitable future modified planning application. Other 
battles to save special places continue including at 
Sutherland, where Coul Links is threatened by a golf 
development, while in Wales we continue to support 
the campaign to save the Gwent Levels from the 
proposed M4 relief road.

Ensuring that wildlife and the environment is 
protected and enhanced after the UK exits the 
European Union (EU) remains a high priority. The 
future of agriculture, the 25 Year Plan for Nature 
and the establishment of an effective environmental 
regulator are all key issues that will fill our 
campaigning agenda over the months to come. The 
UK’s exit from the EU does present a mix of threats 
and opportunities for wildlife and the environment 
and we will continue to play an active part in pressing 
for the best outcomes in all four countries of the UK.

We continue to support The Climate Coalition in 
recognising that tackling climate change remains 
critical to a sustainable future for wildlife – as, indeed, 
it does for our own lives. 

The Saving Nature Scheme is finding its feet as it aims 
to empower volunteers to carry out direct, hands-on 
action to recover and conserve species in the UK. 
The volunteers are trained and equipped to undertake 
skilled tasks from radio-tracking and ringing birds 
to flying drones for species monitoring. Following 
successful pilots the scheme is now growing, with 
numbers of volunteers working on stone-curlews 
increasing from seven (giving 620 hours) to 36 (giving 
4,169 hours) and turtle dove volunteers up from 
none in 2015 to 64 (giving 242 hours). Volunteers 
also contributed to Montagu’s harrier protection and 
monitoring of cirl buntings in Cornwall.

In the immediate future the threats to nature are 
increasing and these challenges to our mission are 
at a time when our ambition for change exceeds our 
capability to deliver. To respond we will focus on those 
priority programmes that make the greatest difference 
as we implement financial savings that will underpin a 
strong sustainable future.

Major risks:
• Trust in charities has been, and remains, in the 

spotlight and RSPB is alert to risks associated 
with any decline in trust and support for our work, 
imposing restrictions on our campaigning voice 
and a growing regulatory burden

• Restrictions on our ability to communicate and to 
raise funds due to emerging regulation renders us 
less able to campaign and fundraise effectively. 

Our response:
• We continue to improve RSPB governance and 

transparency, enhancing our assurance framework 
and providing appropriate training and oversight for 
staff. We work in concert with the wider charity 
sector to understand and implement approaches 
to improving trust.

• An extensive programme for GDPR compliance 
has been running for some time, providing a strong 
mechanism for reinforcing our relationship with 
our supporters, while provision for an income 
downturn is factored into RSPB strategy to allow 
us to effectively manage any adverse impacts. 
Clear guidance is provided to ensure compliance 
with campaigning regulations.

Achievements and challenges
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Excelling at nature  
conservation
Developing and interpreting 
the evidence base for 
conservation action is core to 
the RSPB’s mission�

The publication of the State of the UK’s birds with our 
partners continues to ensure that our efforts remain 
focused on the correct priorities. The innovative and 
engaging Project Puffin encouraged photographers 
(dubbed “Puffarazzi”) to submit photographs of 
puffins carrying food – this would enable researchers 
to identify fish species and analyse their diet from 
around the UK.

The RSPB’s Centre for Conservation Science has a 
hard-won and deserved reputation for peer-reviewed 
published science and in the field of ecology and the 
environment the RSPB ranks third out of 64 scientific 
institutions in the UK. Both globally and in the UK, 
the growing trend to undermine trust in evidence-
based decision making can create a dissonance with 
principle-led activism where anecdote prevails over 
evidence and, as a result, legal frameworks can be 
weakened. We will continue to use and celebrate our 
science and our reliance on evidence but framing our 
stories carefully to ensure that they are relevant to the 
audiences we are talking to.

Birds remain at the heart of what we do and we 
recognise and cherish the special place they have 
in the hearts of so many of our current and future 
supporters – but across our nature reserves they are 
in the minority of the 16,000 species that call them 
home. Our developing partnership, Rethink Nature, 
brings together organisations including Plantlife, 
Buglife, the Amphibian and Reptile Conservation 
Trust, the Bat Conservation Trust, Bumblebee 
Conservation Trust, Butterfly Conservation and the 
RSPB who, together, can focus on the particular 
requirements of species conservation. 

Across our reserves work continues to protect,  
re-establish or translocate rare and threatened 
wildlife. In the Norfolk Broads, working with Plantlife, 
we have helped source fen orchids for re-introduction 
at two fenland sites. The population of field crickets 
at Farnham Heath in Surrey grew to 112 calling males. 
Ladybird spiders were released at two new locations 
at Arne in Dorset. Natterjack toads responded well to 
habitat work at Mersehead, Dumfries and Galloway, 

with previous counts of 10 males eclipsed with a 
peak of 200. Efforts to restore wavy St John’s wort at 
the Mawddach valley in Wales were rewarded with 
300 stems. 

A pine hoverfly larva was found at Abernethy, 
indicating attempts to establish a second site for this 
rare insect have succeeded. 

Project Puffin 
encouraged 
members of the 
public – dubbed the 
“Puffarazzi” – to send 
in photos of puffins 
carrying food�

Major risks:
• Continuing political and economic pressure on 

the statutory sector requires the RSPB to take on 
an increasingly prominent role.

Our response:
• We are building our relationships with the 

statutory sector, providing 
supportive case studies and 
supporting statutory bodies 
in delivering priority species 
and habitats.

Ladybird spiders were released in two places
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One team for nature
As the challenges facing the 
natural world continue to 
grow, it is clear that to succeed 
in saving nature we need to 
develop ever-more imaginative 
and effective partnerships� 

Rethink Nature has already been mentioned and 
is one of our most productive partnerships within 
the conservation sector. Teaming up with Natural 
England and funded by the Heritage Lottery Fund 
(HLF) “Back from the Brink” was launched during 
the year, aiming to save 20 species from extinction 
and benefit over 200 more through 19 projects that 
span England and are designed to leave a legacy of 
involvement.

Black-tailed godwits in the Fens benefit from not one, 
but two linked projects – they are one of the Back 
from the Brink featured species and, together with 
the Wildfowl and Wetland Trust with major funding 
from EU LIFE Nature, the HSBC 150th Anniversary 
Fund, Natural England and the HLF, “Project Godwit” 
aims to secure more godwit habitat and boost the 
bird’s breeding success.

In Aylesbury, a new approach to our housing needs 
is creating homes for wildlife. Our partnership with 
Barratt Developments and Aylesbury Vale District 
Council is setting a new benchmark and we are 
delighted that our wider partnership with Barratt 
Developments has been extended for three years.

Our decade-long partnership with CEMEX 
saw a milestone achieved as we are able 
to celebrate the transformation of 1,000 
hectares of former quarry sites into 
grassland, woodland, heathland and 
more to provide vital habitat for some 
of the UK’s most threatened species.

The future for successful conservation lies in the 
development of more partnerships with those in a 
position to make the greatest difference for nature. 
But we need to go further still – our own actions 
and our partnerships must be the start of wider 
movements which can create the support and scale 
needed for action. The launch of the Nature Friendly 
Farming Network is an example of the way in which, 
in this case, a group of farmers have come together 
to champion a way of farming which is sustainable 
and good for nature. We’re proud to offer them our 
support.

It’s impossible to cover all of the work that has gone 
into making 2017/18 another year in which we have 
risen to meet the growing range of challenges and 
threats faced by wildlife and our environment – 
further details and wider coverage can be found in 
our Annual Review for 2017/18:  
rspb.org.uk/annualreview

Major risks:
• In the context of the needs of nature 

conservation and the challenges posed to our 
mission, RSPB’s ambition for change exceeds 
its capability to deliver, particularly if income falls 
short of planned expenditure over a sustained 
period.

Our response:
• We maintain a clear focus on the most critical 

activities, arranging our internal structures to 
offer the most effective and efficient support. 
Our evolving income and funding strategy will 
include opportunities for innovative financing 
while careful controls are in place over all RSPB 
forecast expenditure.

Black-tailed godwits in the 
Fens benefit from two 

linked projects – Back 
from the Brink and 

Project Godwit
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Financial review
The accounts, which form part of this report, 
comply with the requirements of FRS102 – The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland. The trustees consider that 
in preparing these accounts, they have consistently 
applied appropriate accounting policies supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates 
where required. 

A resolution to appoint the firm Crowe Clark 
Whitehill LLP as auditors to the organisation was 
passed at the Annual General Meeting on 7 October 
2017. On 25 June 2018, Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP 
changed its name to Crowe U.K. LLP. Crowe U.K. 
LLP has indicated its willingness to be reappointed 
as statutory auditor.

Financial report on the year

Summary
Net resources available for charitable activities, before 
financial income and investment gains, increased 
by £3.1 million and this allowed us to maintain our 
charitable expenditure at £99.4 million and deliver 
a surplus of £2.6 million before the actuarial gain 
in respect of the pension scheme. However, we 
saw an outflow of cash and investments in the year 
of £10.5 million, reflecting fixed asset additions of 
£10.7 million and an increase in working capital. Free 
financial reserves reduced by £4.4 million to £28.8 
million, representing 14 weeks’ expenditure cover. 
This is within the acceptable range of 8–16 weeks 
but does highlight the current financial pressures and 
the need for robust expenditure controls.

The previous sections give a flavour of our 
conservation successes and the scale and breadth of 
the work we are undertaking. It is essential that we 
continue to focus on the highest priority programmes 
to maximise conservation impact, whilst at the same 
time maintaining our financial reserves, so that we 
can plan with confidence going forward.

The pension deficit, having increased by £31.3 
million in 2017, has decreased by £16.7 million 
to £73.6 million at the end of March 2018. The 
defined benefit scheme was closed in 2017 and 
the replacement defined contribution scheme will 
continue to reduce the volatility and risk of this 
important employee benefit.

The decrease in the Pension Scheme liability has 
increased our unrestricted reserves to £21.0 million.

Income
Income was steady, growing by 3% to reach £138.3 
million. There are four key income streams which 
are complemented by a range of smaller, but still 
important sources. The diversity of our income 
streams is a financial strength that helps us plan for 
the future with confidence.

Membership subscriptions and donations were 
steady at £51.2 million. The support of members 
remains strong and, excluding the impact of some 
large one-off donations last year, underlying 
membership income grew by 3%. The number of 
members we have at the year-end was 1,219,308, 
which is slightly down on last year’s record number.

The retention rate of our adult memberships is a 
key indicator for us; at just under 88% it gives us 
an indication of the strength of support that we 
have. Not only does the membership underpin our 
financial security but it also enables us to speak with 
confidence and authority when we undertake our 
advocacy work.
 
Legacy income at £30.4 million fell by £4.3 million. 
However, legacy income in 2017 was the highest 
we had ever received and some reduction was to be 
anticipated. Whilst legacy income in the year was 
down, the underlying strength of legacy income 
remains robust with the value of legacies notified 
to us but neither received or included in this year’s 
income, increasing to £24.0 million from £17.8 
million at the end of last financial year.

Grants, corporates and trusts income grew by  
£5.9 million. The £3.2 million increase in corporate 
income was mainly due to a gift of land in the 
New Forest as part of a settlement agreement 
between the previous owners and HM Revenue 
and Customs. Grant income grew by £2.2 million, 
including funding received for the Gough Island and 
Back from the Brink projects mentioned earlier.

Overall, commercial trading income reached £22.4 
million which was slightly down on last year reflecting 
commercial pressures in the bird care market. 

Fees and grants for services income increased by 
£2.5 million with funding of £2.0 million received 
from Nottinghamshire County Council in respect of 
the Sherwood Forest visitor centre.
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Net income is shown after deducting the £37.2 
million cost of generating funds. 

Expenditure
We were able to maintain our expenditure on 
charitable activities at £99.4 million, together 
with a further £10.7 million of capital expenditure 
including land acquisition and investment in visitor 
infrastructure of £8.7 million.

The amount that we spent on managing our 
nature reserves increased by £1.7 million to £38.2 
million in 2018. This year includes investment in 
the Sherwood Forest visitor centre and related 
infrastructure of £3.8 million.

Our expenditure on Research, policy and advisory 
of £36.6 million is reasonably stable from one year 
to the next, although the composition of activities 
and projects within this figure does change. This 
category of spend includes work both in the UK and 
overseas. 

Education and inspiring support expenditure was 
£2.9 million lower, reflecting a scaling-back of our 
investment in brand awareness-raising activities. 

Supporter care expenditure increased by £1.7 
million, reflecting the investment in the opt-in 
campaign undertaken to ensure that members have 
control over how we contact them.

Financial reserves policy
The RSPB holds financial reserves to support future 
activities in a number of categories:
• Total financial reserves at 31 March 2018 were 

£174.0 million which is made up of; 
- Tangible fixed assets of £207.0 million
- Cash and investments of £25.2 million
- Working capital of £15.4 million
- A pension liability of £73.6 million.

• Unrestricted – available to be applied, at 
the discretion of the trustees, to any of the 
RSPB’s charitable purposes. At 31 March 2018 
unrestricted funds were £21.0 million, made  
up of;
- General funds of £32.5 million including £3.6 

million of tangible fixed assets, £12.1 million 
cash and investments and £16.8 million 
working capital

- Designated funds of £62.1 million represented 
by nature reserves owned by RSPB. There are 
no plans to dispose of these nature reserves

- Pension reserve liability of £73.6 million.

• Restricted – to be applied to the specific 
purpose(s) intended by the donor. At 31 March 
2018 restricted funds were £151.7 million made 
up of;
- Nature reserves of £140.6 million
- Other tangible assets of £0.6 million
- Working capital and investments of  

£10.5 million.
• Endowment – restricted funds that are to be 

retained for the benefit of the Charity as a capital 
fund. Permanent endowments require the 
capital to be maintained and only the income and 
capital growth can be utilised. With expendable 
endowments the capital may also be utilised.  
At 31 March 2018 endowment funds were  
£1.3 million.

• Free financial reserves at 31 March 2018 were 
£28.8 million, representing 14 weeks’ future 
expenditure.

Each year the trustees consider the appropriate level 
of free financial reserves. They review the RSPB’s 
requirements and consider a sustained fall in income 
of 10–15% to be a reasonable basis for setting a 
minimum level. It is the intention of the trustees to 
hold sufficient reserves to enable expenditure to be 
reduced in a managed fashion, should the need arise, 
avoiding the need to halt work abruptly. The trustees 
have agreed that free reserves should normally be 
within a range of 8–16 weeks’ of expenditure.

Our financial projections over the next three years 
anticipate that “Free financial reserves” will reduce 
to 11 weeks and remain well within the required 
Council parameters of 8–16 weeks. 

Investment policy and powers
The RSPB’s investment powers are as set out in 
the Charter and Statutes, and are wider than those 
contained in the Trustees Investment Act 2000. 

The RSPB’s primary investment objective is to 
maintain the real value of its investments. However, 
as a proportion of the financial reserves are likely to 
be held in the longer term, it is appropriate to invest 
conservatively a proportion of the funds to generate 
income and/or real growth. 

Investment properties arising from legacies are 
managed by the RSPB until disposal.

Financial review
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In managing investments, wherever possible, 
we follow the principles of Socially Responsible 
Investing. These principles are to:

• invest in companies that make a positive 
contribution to society.

• use influence as an investor to encourage best 
practice management of social responsibility 
issues.

• avoid investing in companies whose activities 
conflict strongly with RSPB objectives.

The trustees rely upon specialist advice for fund 
selection and allocation. Investment performance 
is compared to an independent benchmark and the 
target for investment returns is to outperform this 
composite benchmark by at least 1% per annum 
over a rolling three-year period. 

Through our investment managers, we aim to 
minimise exposure to fossil fuel. As measured by 
the commonly used Carbon Underground 200 index 
(maintained by Fossil Free Indexes, LLC) we held a 
de minimis exposure to fossil fuels (circa 0.04%) at 
31 March 2018. 

Pension
As mentioned earlier, the pension liability continues 
to change from one year to the next. This is largely 
driven by factors outside our control: performance 
of the assets in the pension scheme and sensitivity 
of the pension liability to changes in interest and 
inflation rates. The Trustees have taken many steps 

over the years to reduce the costs and risks of the 
pension scheme. In addition to closing the defined 
benefit scheme, the RSPB Trustees have agreed a 
deficit recovery plan with the Pension Trustees over 
the coming years which minimises the impact on 
our work. This is underpinned by an agreement with 
the Pension Trustees that, in the unlikely event of 
the RSPB being unable to meet its obligations to the 
scheme, specified land with a value of £57 million, 
would pass to the Pension Fund.

Outlook for the future
While it is the case that the RSPB, along with many 
other charities, is facing uncertain and challenging 
times, we are taking bold and focused action to 
ensure that we protect our financial reserves whilst 
at the same time staying focused on delivering our 
key conservation objectives. This work will continue 
as we embed our priority programmes across 
the organisation, and embark on necessary and 
integrated organisational restructures designed to 
support and deliver our priorities. We also continue 
to develop innovative ways of tackling the issues we 
face and build partnerships and relationships with 
those who share our vision to save nature.

Signed on behalf of the Council
Kevin Cox, Chair

Financial review
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
Trustees of the Royal Society for the 
Protection of Birds 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Royal 
Society for the Protection of Birds for the year ended 
31 March 2018 which comprise the Group Statement 
of Financial Activities, the Group and Charity Balance 
Sheets, the Group Statement of Cash Flows and notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and of the parent charity’s affairs as 
at 31 March 2018 and of the group’s 
incoming resources and application of 
resources, for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Charities Act 2011 and 
the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulations 6 and 8 
of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where: 

• the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is not appropriate; or 

• the Trustees have not disclosed in the 
financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
about the group’s or the parent charity’s 

ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least 
twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Other information 

The Trustees are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Charities (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008 require us to report to 
you if, in our opinion: 

• the information given in the financial 
statements is inconsistent in any material 
respect with the Trustees’ report; or 

• sufficient and proper accounting records have 
not been kept by the parent charity; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or 

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit. 

 

Responsibilities of Trustees 

As explained more fully in the Trustees’ 
responsibilities statement set out on page 10, the 
Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 
as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are 
responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 
charity’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Trustees either intend to 
liquidate the charity or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements 

We have been appointed as auditor under section 151 
of the Charities Act 2011, and section 44(1)(c) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 
and report in accordance with the Acts and relevant 
regulations made or having effect thereunder. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities  

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the charity’s Trustees, as 
a body, in accordance with Part 4 of the Charities 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and 
Regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the charity’s 
Trustees those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the charity and the charity’s Trustees as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

 

Crowe U.K. LLP 

Statutory Auditor 

London 

 

21 September 2018 

Crowe U.K. LLP is eligible for appointment as auditor 
of the charity by virtue of its eligibility for appointment 
as auditor of a company under section 1212 of the 
Companies Act 2006. 
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Consolidated statement of financial activities  

for the year ended 31 March 2018 
 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
 
INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS  

Note Unrestricted) 
funds) 
£’000 ) 

Restricted 
    funds 
    £’000 

Endowment( 
funds( 
£’000( 

2018) 
Total( 
£’000( 

2017) 
Total) 
£’000) 

Voluntary income      ( 
Membership subscriptions and donations 3 48,343( 2,846) -) 51,189( 51,365( 
Legacies 4 26,068) 4,373) -) 30,441) 34,699) 
Grants, corporates and trusts 5 782) 26,032) (132) 26,682) 20,812) 
  _______)   _______ _______ _______) _______) 

Total voluntary income  75,193) 33,251) (132) 108,312( 106,876( 
       
Commercial trading 6 )22,424 -) -) 22,424) 22,921) 
       
Investment income and interest 7 62) -) 10) 72( 174( 
       

Charitable activities      
Fees and grants for services  )3,574 -) -) (3,574( 1,082( 
Land and farming income  )2,486 -) -) 2,486) 2,114) 
Events and media sales  

 
 )1,010 

_______) 
-) 

  _______ 
-) 

_______) 
1,010( 

_______) 
904( 

_______) 

Total income from charitable activities  )7,070 -) -) 7,070( 4,100( 
       
Other income       

Net gains on disposals of fixed assets 7 
 

475) 
_______) 

-) 
  _______ 

-) 
_______) 

475( 
_______) 

108( 
_______) 

Total income  105,224) 33,251) (122) 138,353( 134,179( 
  _______) )_______) )_______) )_______) )_______) 
EXPENDITURE ON:       
Cost of raising funds       

Costs of commercial trading  21,401) -) -) 21,401) 20,336) 
Costs of generating voluntary income  15,735) -) -) 15,735) 15,683) 
Investment management costs  

 
88( 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
88( 

________ 
143( 

________ 
Total cost of raising funds 8 37,224( -( -( 37,224( 36,162( 
       
Net resources available for charitable activities 68,000) 33,251) (122) 101,129( 98,017( 

       
Charitable Activities       

Managing RSPB nature reserves  20,747) )17,428 -) 38,175( 36,452) 
Research, policy and advisory  27,559) 9,069 -) 36,628) 36,709( 
Education and inspiring support  16,197) )2,225 -) 18,422) 21,314) 
Supporter care  

 
6,148) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
6,148) 

_______) 
4,454) 

_______) 
Total expenditure on charitable activities  70,651) 28,722) -) 99,373( 98,929( 

       
       

Total expenditure 

 

Net gains on investments 

8 

 

107,875) 

 

936) 

_______) 

   28,722 

 

         - 

_______( 

-) 

 

-) 

_______) 

136,597) 

 

    )936( 

 _______) 

135,091) 

 

    6,532 
_______) 

NET INCOME / (EXPENDITURE) 
  

(1,715) 
_______) 

4,529) 
_______) 

(122) 
_______) 

2,692) 
_______) 

5,620) 
_______) 

Actuarial gains / (losses) on pension scheme 
 

25 14,190      
_______) 

        -          
(((_______ 

         - 
_______) 

 

14,190 
_______ 

(32,378) 
_______ 

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS 
 
 

 12,475 
_______) 

4,529) 
  _______ 

(122) 
_______) 

16,882 
_______) 

(26,758) 
_______) 

Reconciliation of funds       

Total funds brought forward         8,507(  
_______) 

147,180) 
_______) 

1,387) 
_______) 

 157,074( 
_______) 

  183,832 
_______) 

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  
 

20,982() 
_______) 

151,709( 
_______) 

1,265) 
_______) 

 173,956(  
  _______ 

  157,074 
_______ 

       
 
All the above results arise from continuing activities. Detailed comparative information is provided in note 26. Notes 1 to 26 form an 
integral part of these accounts. 
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Charity and consolidated balance sheets 
as at 31 March 2018 

  
Note 

2018) 
Consolidated) 

total) 

2017) 
Consolidated) 

total) 

2018) 
Charity) 

2017) 
Charity 

 

  )£’000) £’000) £’000) )£’000) 
Fixed assets      
      Nature reserves 12 202,684( 196,278( 202,134( 195,728( 
      Other tangible assets 12 4,264( 4,080( 4,264( 4,080( 
      Investments 13 16,036( 24,717( 16,036( 24,717( 
      Investment in subsidiary companies 13 -( -( 3,801( 3,801( 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
  222,984) 225,075) 226,235) 228,326) 
      
Current assets      
      Stock  4,015) 3,922) -) -) 
      Debtors 14 24,197) 18,391) 27,840) 22,396) 
      Short-term cash  9,209) 11,058) 5,120) 6,679) 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
  37,421) 33,371) 32,960) 29,075) 
      
      
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 15 (12,008) (10,232) (10,798) (9,180) 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Net current assets  25,413) 23,139) 22,162) 19,895) 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
      
Total assets less current liabilities  248,397)  248,214)  248,397) 248,221) 
      
Creditors amounts falling due in more than one year 17 (825) (826) (825) (826) 
  )_______) )_______) ))_______) 

) 
_______) 

Net assets excluding pension liability 
 

 247,572 247,388) 247,572) 247,395) 

Pension scheme liability 25 
 

(73,616) 
_______) 

(90,314) 
_______) 

(73,616) 
_______) 

 (90,314) 
_______) 

Net assets including pension liability  )173,956 
_______) 

157,074) 
_______) 

173,956) 
_______) 

157,081) 
_______) 

The funds of the charity 
Unrestricted funds 

     

General funds  32,463) 36,797) 32,463) 36,804) 
Designated funds  62,135) 

 
62,024) 

 
62,135) 

 
62,024) 

Pension reserve 25 (73,616) 
 

_______) 

(90,314) 
 

_______) 

(73,616) 
 

_______) 

(90,314) 
 

_______) 
  20,982( 

 
8,507) 

 
20,982) 

 
8,514) 

Restricted funds  151,709) 147,180) 151,709) 147,180) 
Endowment funds  1,265) 1,387) )1,265( 1,387) 
  _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Total Funds 21 & 22 173,956) 

(  +_______) 
157,074(  

+_________) 
173,956) 

_______) 
157,081) 

_______) 

Notes 1 to 26 form an integral part of these accounts. 
 
Authorised for issue by RSPB Council on 21 September 2018 and signed on behalf of the Council by: 

 

                                   
 
Kevin Cox Graeme Wallace 
Chair Treasurer 
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Application of net incoming resources 

for the year ended 31 March 2018 2018) 
£’000) 

 

2017) 
£’000) 

 
Net resources available for charitable purposes 
Less Total expenditure on charitable activities 

101,129( 
(99,373) 

 98,017) 
(98,929) 

 _______ _______) 
Net incoming / (outgoing) resources before gains / (losses) 1,756( (912) 
Gains / (losses) on investments and pension scheme 15,126( (25,846) 

 _______ _______) 
Net movement in funds as per Consolidated statement of financial activities 16,882( (26,758) 
 _______ _______) 
   
Application of net funds for charity use:   

Nature reserves 6,406( 1,956) 
Other tangible assets 184( (249) 
Movement on stock, debtors and creditors 4,124( ((628) 
Movement on pension scheme 16,698( (31,302) 

 _______ _______) 
 27,412( (30,223) 

   
Movement in cash and investments available for future activities (10,530) 3,465) 
  ) 
Cash and investments available at start of year 35,775( 32,310) 
 _______ _______) 
Cash and investments available at end of year 25,245( 35,775) 
 _______ _______) 

 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
 for the year ended 31 March 2018  

Note 
2018) 
£’000) 

2017) 
£’000) 

Cash flows from operating activities  ( ( 
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  24 (4,999) 1,274) 

    
   ( 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Interest and dividends received  229( 156) 
Additions to nature reserves  (5,214) (4,597) 
Purchase of other tangible fixed assets  (2,017) (1,519) 
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets  542( 518) 
Purchase of investments 
Sale of investments 

 (32) 
10,331( 

(40) 
5,500) 

  ______ ______)) 
Net cash provided by investing activities  3,839(    18) 

 
 

   

    
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting periods 
Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year 

 (1,160) 
14,404( 

1,292) 
13,112) 

  ______ ______) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 
 

 13,244( 14,404) 

    
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash in hand 
Notice deposits (less than 3 months) 

  
9,209( 
4,035( 

_______ 

 
11,058) 
3,346) 

_______) 
Cash and cash equivalents  13,244( 14,404) 
  _______) _______) 
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Notes to the accounts 

1 Charity information 

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds is a non-
statutory body incorporated by Royal Charter and a 
charity registered in England and Wales (number 
207076) and in Scotland (number SC037654). The 
address of the registered office is The Lodge, Sandy, 
Bedfordshire, SG19 2DL. 

2 Accounting policies 

Basis of preparation 

The accounts have been prepared to give a ‘true and fair’ 
view and have departed from the Charities (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the extent required to 
provide a ‘true and fair view’. This departure has involved 
following the Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102) 
issued on 16 July 2014 rather than the previous Statement 
of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by 
Charities, which was effective from 1 April 2005 but which 
has since been withdrawn. Other standards applied in 
preparation of these financial statements include the 
Charities Act 2011, the Charities (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended). 
 
The RSPB meets the definition of a public benefit entity 
under FRS102. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised 
at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise 
stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s). 
 
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis 
and having considered future plans and forecasts including 
a review of financial reserves as detailed in the Trustees’ 
report, the Trustees believe it appropriate to continue to do 
so. 
 
The Statement of financial activities (SOFA) and balance 
sheet consolidate, on a line-by-line basis, the financial 
statements of the Charity and its subsidiary 
undertakings. 
 
The Charity has taken advantage of the exemption in 
FRS102 from the requirement to prepare a charity-only 
cash flow statement and certain disclosures about the 
Charity’s financial statements. None of the subsidiary 
directors received any remuneration or emoluments in 
respect of their services to those subsidiaries. Where 
directors are officers/employees of the RSPB they will 
receive remuneration from the RSPB. 
 
The RSPB’s commercial activities are undertaken by 
its wholly-owned trading subsidiary, RSPB Sales 
Limited, and all distributable profits are donated under 
Gift Aid to the RSPB. RSPB Sales Limited was 
incorporated as a company limited by shares in 1992 
to conduct trading activities in support of the RSPB’s 
charitable objectives. The principal activities are the 
sale of goods by mail order and through retail outlets, 
consulting and advice, farming, publications, trade and 
catering, lottery, commercial and direct fundraising. 

The company is registered under company number 
02693778.  
 
March Farmers (Washland) Limited, a company limited 
by shares (registration number 01039814). This entity is 
a wholly-owned subsidiary acquired in 2008 to secure 
the leasehold interest in land adjacent to the Nene 
Washes reserve in Cambridgeshire. Through the March 
Farmers Habitat Restoration project, the former arable 
land is being restored to floodplain grazing marsh. 
 
Farming for Nature, a company limited by guarantee 
(registration number 07982175), incorporated in 2012. 
This entity is being used in collaboration with United 
Utilities, from whom the company leases land on the 
Haweswater Estate in Cumbria, to deliver habitat 
restoration, drive improvements to raw water quality and 
benefit a range of upland wildlife while maintaining a 
viable farming enterprise.  
 
RSPB Oronsay, a Scottish Limited Partnership of which 
the RSPB is the General Partner. This entity was 
established in 1996 to carry out the business of farming 
and nature conservation on the island of Oronsay 
 
RSPB Cayman Islands Nature Limited, a wholly-owned 
dormant subsidiary and a non-profit company limited by 
shares, registered in the Cayman Islands (registration 
number 304647). This entity was established in 2015 to 
promote the conservation of biological diversity and the 
natural environment through the acquisition of land to 
create or extend nature reserves in the Cayman Islands. 
 
The group also includes four other wholly-owned 
dormant companies limited by shares: RSPB Farmers 
Limited, RSPB Farmers (North) Limited, RSPB Farmers 
(South) Limited and RSPB Farmers (West) Limited.  
 
The RSPB holds a 33% joint venture interest in Yayasan 
Konservasi Ekosistem Hutan, a non-profit organisation 
registered in Indonesia and established to facilitate the 
acquisition and management of the Harapan Rainforest 
in Sumatra. The results have not been included in these 
accounts; to do so would not materially alter them.  
 
The RSPB holds a 33% interest in Gola Rainforest 
Conservation LG, a non-profit company limited by 
guarantee registered in Sierra Leone and established to 
conserve and help fund the Gola Rainforest National 
Park, for example, through the sale of carbon credits. 
The results have not been included in these accounts; to 
do so would not materially alter them. 
 
The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds is a 
registered charity and as such is potentially exempt from 
taxation on its income and gains to the extent that they 
are applied to its charitable purposes. There was no tax 
charge during the year. The subsidiaries donate, under 
Gift Aid, all distributable profits to the Charity each year. 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty  

In the application of the Charity’s accounting policies, 
Trustees are required to make judgements, estimates, 
and assumptions about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are 

Notes to the accounts
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considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period to which they relate. 
 
The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are related to pension liability. The 
Charity recognises its liability to its defined benefit 
pension scheme which involves a number of estimations 
as disclosed in note 25. 

Funds 

Unrestricted funds: 
General funds are available for use at the discretion of 
the Trustees in furtherance of the objectives of the 
Charity and which have not been designated for other 
purposes. 
 
Designated funds are unrestricted funds, which have 
been applied or reserved by the Trustees for a specific 
purpose. The aim and use of each designated fund is set 
out in note 21.  
 

 
Restricted funds: 
Restricted funds are those which are to be used in 
accordance with specific restrictions of the donors or 
which have been raised by the Charity for particular 
purposes. The purpose for which restricted funds are 
held is analysed in note 21.  
 
Endowment funds: 
Endowment funds are restricted funds that are held for 
the benefit of the Charity as a capital fund. Permanent 
endowments require the capital to be maintained and 
only the income and capital growth can be utilised. With 
expendable endowments, the capital may also be 
utilised. The purpose for which endowment funds are 
held is analysed in note 21. 

Capital expenditure 

Purchased assets, individually exceeding £2,500 at cost, 
are included on the balance sheet at historic cost less 
depreciation and any impairment in accordance with 
FRS102 ’Property, Plant and Equipment’ (note 12). 
Donated assets are included at market value as 
determined by the Trustees. Expenditure on fixed assets 
is capitalised in the year of acquisition and depreciation 
is charged annually. 

Depreciation 

Nature reserves, either owned as freehold land or held 
as leasehold land where the lease is held in perpetuity, 
are considered to have an indefinite useful life and are 
not depreciated. Other fixed assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their anticipated useful lives as 
follows: 
 
Freehold buildings   50 years 
Leasehold land and   Period of lease or 50 years 
 buildings with a fixed term   whichever is shorter 
Other fixed assets   4 to 50 years depending on  

  the nature of the asset. 

Investments 

The investments in the subsidiary undertakings are 
stated at cost less provision for impairment. All other 
investments are stated at fair value with gains and 
losses being recognised within income and expenditure. 
Properties included in investments are those assigned 
under legacy bequests, awaiting disposal at a future 
date, and are stated at their fair value at the balance 
sheet date. The SOFA includes the net gains and losses 
arising on revaluations and disposals throughout the 
year.  

Investment cash is held for investment purposes 
only. It is the intention of the Trustees that fixed 
asset investments will not be drawn upon within the 
following year. 

Stocks 

Stocks, which include livestock and products for resale, 
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Financial Instruments  

The RSPB has financial assets and financial liabilities of 
a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic 
financial instruments are initially recognised at 
transaction value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Financial assets held at amortised cost comprise cash at 
bank and in hand, together with trade and other debtors. 
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost comprise trade 
and other creditors.  

Incoming resources  

Incoming resources are included in the SOFA when the 
RSPB is entitled to the income, the receipt is probable 
and the amount can be quantified with reasonable 
accuracy. If these conditions are not met then the 
income is deferred. The following specific policies apply 
to categories of income: 
i) Membership income is treated as a donation and is 

accounted for when received. 
ii) Legacies are accounted for based on settlement of 

the estate or receipt of payment, whichever is earlier.  
iii) Grants received in advance of the associated work 

being carried out are deferred only when the donor 
has imposed preconditions on the expenditure of 
resources (see Note 17). 

iv) Donated assets are recognised at the value of the gift 
to the Charity which is the amount the Charity would 
have been willing to pay to obtain services or 
facilities of equivalent economic benefit on the open 
market. They are included in the SOFA and balance 
sheet as appropriate. 

Resources expended 

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and 
has been classified under headings that aggregate all 
costs related to that category. Costs incurred that relate to 
multiple purposes are analysed and allocated to the 
appropriate categories in line with the joint cost allocation 
principles in the Charities SORP (FRS102). 
 
i) Costs of generating voluntary income do not include 

the costs of disseminating information in support of 
the charitable activities. 
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ii) Commercial trading includes the cost of goods sold in 
mail order, retail and catering activities. 

iii) Costs of managing RSPB nature reserves are those 
incurred in managing the network of nature reserves 
including land management, habitat restoration and 
visitor facilities. 

iv) Research, policy and advisory includes the costs 
associated with scientific research and our advocacy 
work to influence public policy to benefit nature. 

v) Education and inspiring support includes the costs of 
activities to inspire children, young people and 
families to connect with nature and to enable 
supporters to use their voice most effectively to 
benefit nature conservation. 

vi) Supporter care includes the costs of providing 
information to our members and supporters including 
a quarterly magazine providing information on the 
work being done by the RSPB and its partners.   

vii) Support costs have been allocated to the headings in 
the SOFA on the basis of salary percentage. This 
applies to office facilities and accommodation, 
finance, information technology, human resources, 
management and governance. 

viii) Grants are awarded to other organisations, at 
Trustees’ discretion, on a project basis where such 
projects meet the RSPB’s charitable objectives and 
contribute towards the Strategic outcomes. In making 
awards, consideration is given to the most effective 
and efficient use of resources. 

Pensions 

The defined benefit scheme was closed on 31 March 
2017 and replaced with a defined contribution 
scheme. 
 
The defined benefit scheme amount charged in 
resources expended is the net of the interest cost and 
interest income on assets. Re-measurements are 
recognised immediately in Other recognised gains and 
losses. 
 
Defined benefit schemes are funded, with the assets 
of the scheme held separately from those of the group, 
in separate Trustee administered funds. Pension 
scheme assets are measured at fair value and 
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the 
projected unit method and discounted at a rate 
equivalent to the current rate of return on a high-
quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term 
to the scheme liabilities. The resulting defined benefit 
asset or liability is presented separately after other net 

assets on the face of the balance sheet. Full actuarial 
valuations are obtained triennially. 
 
In the view of the Trustees, no assumptions 
concerning the future or estimation uncertainty 
affecting assets and liabilities at the balance sheet 
date are likely to result in a material adjustment to their 
carrying amounts in the next financial year. 
 
With regard to the defined contribution scheme the 
amounts charged in resources expended are the 
employer contributions in the year. The employer 
contribution rate matches the employee rate up to a 
maximum of 7%.  

Redundancy and settlement payments  

Redundancy and settlement payments are recognised 
at the leaving date of the member of staff and 
measured at the best estimate of expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date. 

Operating leases 

Operating lease rentals are charged and credited to 
the SOFA on a straight-line basis over the length of 
the lease. 

Foreign currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at 
rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Balances 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
rate of exchange prevailing at the year-end, in 
accordance with FRS102. Any gains or losses arising 
on translations are reported as part of the transaction 
within the SOFA and are not material; they are 
therefore not disclosed separately. 

Forward contracts 

Forward contracts are measured at fair value on the 
date the contract is entered into and subsequently 
measured at fair value through the SOFA. 
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3  Membership subscriptions and donations 

 2018) 
£’000( 

2017) 
£’000( 

 

    
Membership subscriptions 44,490( 43,244(  
Donations 6,699( 8,121(  
 ______) ______)  
 51,189) 51,365)  
 
 

______) ______)  

Donations received during the year include a donated asset of £nil (2017: £1,100,000). 

4  Legacies 

The estimated value of legacies notified but neither received nor included in income is £23,972,476 (2017: 
£17,752,000). 

5  Grants, corporates and trusts 

 2018 
£’000 

2017) 
£’000( 

 

    
Grants  19,772   17,558(  
Corporates 5,525 2,308(  
Trusts 1,385  946(  
 ______ ______)  
 26,682 20,812(  
 ______ ______)  

Amounts received from corporates during the year include the following 
donations: 

   

    
Land and buildings 3,450 229)  
Services 136 52)  
Goods 24 23)  
 ______ ______)  
 3,610 304)  
 ______ ______)  

 
Major grants received during the year include the following: 2018 

£’000 
2017( 
£’000( 

UK    
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs*  7,670 6,065) 
Scottish Government* 
Landfill Communities Fund 
Scottish Natural Heritage* 

      Natural Resources Wales* 

1,401 
611 

       1,033 
       750 

1,085) 
  971) 

    814) 
     772) 

Environment Agency*       179      582) 
Department of Environment, Northern Ireland*       151      247) 

 Natural England*       38      233) 
Forestry Commission* 111            86) 

   ______ ______) 
 
 

11,944 10,855( 

International 
European Union 
 

 
2,468 

 

 
1,871( 

 
   
National Lottery: Heritage Lottery Fund and Big Lottery Fund 2,741 3,064( 
   
Local councils and other** 2,619 1,768( 
 ______ ______) 
 19,772 17,558( 
 ______ ______) 

* Government grants used to fund conservation projects and recognised in the accounts. There are no unfulfilled 
conditions or contingencies relating to the government grants or other forms of government assistance from which 
the charity has directly benefitted recognised in the accounts. 
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5  Grants, corporates and trusts (continued) 

The Coastal Communities Fund Grant provided funding of £136,058 towards our ‘Farming for Wildlife; 
Supporting People, Sustaining Nature’ project in Egilsay, Orkney. This income has been included within our 
restricted funds. All funds received were spent in the year. 
 

 
 
 
Grants received were for the following purposes: 

 
 

2018) 
£’000( 

 
 

2017) 
£’000( 

   
Research, policy and advisory  4,928) 3,242) 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 14,203) 14,160) 
Education and inspiring support 192)  77) 

 ______) ______) 
 19,323) 17,479) 

Acquisition of nature reserves 449) 779) 
 ______) ______) 
 19,772) 17,558) 
 
 

______) ______) 

 
 
 

6  Commercial trading 

 2018) 
£’000) 

2017 
£’000 

  ( 
Retail, mail order and trade 16,884) 17,428 
Catering 3,163) 2,979 
Lottery 1,393) 1,542 
Advertising 984) 972 
 _______) ______ 
 22,424) 22,921 
 _______) ______ 

 
 
 
 
 

7  Investment income and interest 

 2018) 
£’000) 

2017 
£’000 

Income received from:  ( 
Interest on cash 47(     49 
Gain on foreign currency -) 4 
Listed Stock Exchange investments 125(  121 
Property -(   - 
 _______) ______ 
 (72( 174 
 _______) ______ 

Other income:   
Net gains on disposals of fixed assets 475)  108 
 _______) ______ 

Included above is investment income of £10,114 (2017: £11,322), which relates to the Hanson 
Environment Fund. This treatment has been agreed with the donor and the fund is held as an expendable 
endowment. 
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8  Total expenditure 

 
 
 
Cost of raising funds:  

 
Direct( 
costs( 
£’000( 

 
Support( 

costs( 
£’000( 

2018( 
Total( 

 
£’000( 

2017( 
Total( 

 
£’000) 

 

Costs of raising voluntary income:    ( 

Membership subscriptions and donations 9,877( 751( 10,628) 10,474) 
Legacies 1,026( 48) 1,074) 1,032) 
Grants, corporates and trusts 3,416( 617( 4,033) 4,177) 

 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Total cost of raising voluntary income 14,319( 1,416( 15,735( 15,683) 

     
Commercial trading 20,887( 514( 21,401) 20,336) 

     
Investment management costs 88( -( 88) 143) 

 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Total cost of raising funds 35,294( 1,930(    37,224( 36,162) 
     
Charitable activities:  (  

Managing RSPB nature reserves 36,666) 1,509( 38,175( 36,452( 
Research, policy and advisory  33,578( 3,050( 36,628) 36,709( 
Education and inspiring support 17,136( 1,286( 18,422( 21,314( 
Supporter care 6,076( 72( 6,148( 4,454( 

 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
 93,456( 5,917( 99,373( 98,929) 
     
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
Total  128,750) 7,847) 136,597( 135,091( 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 
 

 
Research, policy and advisory includes grant payments amounting to £5,778,207 with support costs of 
£332,821 (2017: £5,364,683; £278,964). Grants were awarded to 191 (2017: 180) organisations; no grants 
were made to individuals. A full list is available on www.rspb.org.uk. 

 Future commitments: 

Future commitments relating to charitable work carried out by other organisations on behalf of the RSPB, 
amount to £1,088,092 (2017: £464,507). These represent contracts signed before 1 April 2018 for payments 
in future years. 
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9  Support costs 

 Premises) 
 

£’000) 

Finance( 
& IT( 

£’000( 

Human) 
resources) 

£’000) 

Mgmnt & 
other 
£’000 

Gover-
nance 
£’000 

   

2018( 
Total( 
£’000( 

2017( 
Total( 
£’000( 

 

    ( 
Generating incoming resources 

 
404( 517( 397( 525( 87) 1,930( 1,629) 

Charitable expenditure:        
Research, policy and advisory 639( 816( 627( 828( 140) 3,050) 2,906( 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 316) 404) 310) 410( 69) 1,509) 1,346) 
Education and inspiring support 269( 345( 264( 349( 59) 1,286( 1,134( 
Supporter care 15( 19( 15( 20( 3) 72( 71( 
 ______) ______

) 
______) _____) _____

) 
______) _____) 

Total Total Charitable Expenditure 1,239( 1,584( 1,216( 1,607( 271) 5,917) 5,457) 
 ______) ______

) 
______) _____) _____

) 
______) _____) 

Total support costs 1,643( 2,101( 1,613( 2,132( 358( 7,847( 7,086) 
 ______( ______ ______( _____) _____ ______( ______( 

 
 
Support costs are included in the expenditure reported in the Consolidated statement of financial activities 
and have been allocated on the basis of salary percentage. The cost allocation includes an element of 
judgement and the RSPB has had to consider the cost benefit of detailed calculations and record keeping. 
 
Governance costs include audit, legal advice for Trustees and the costs associated with constitutional and 
statutory requirements, such as Trustees’ meetings. 
 

10  Audit fees 

 
The total audit fees were: 2018( 

£’000( 
2017( 
£’000( 

Statutory audit:  ( 
Charity 38( 42) 
RSPB Sales Limited 24( 29) 
March Farmers (Washland) Limited 3( 3) 
Farming For Nature 3( 3( 

 ______) 
 

______) 

 68) 77) 
 ______) ______) 
   
Non-audit services -) 10) 
 ______) ______) 
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11  Staff costs 
The average number of employees during the year was 2,245 (2017: 2,409). 
 
Average staff numbers by activity: 2018( 

No.) 
2017( 

 No. 
Generating incoming resources 605( 685( 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 655( 661) 
Research, policy and advisory  671) 703) 
Education and inspiring support 273) 311) 
Supporter care 41) 49) 

 _______) _______( 

 2,245) 2,409) 
 _______) _______( 

 
The nature of work undertaken by individual staff traverses the above categories; therefore, the allocation 
includes an element of judgement. In accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practices the average 
number of employees for 2018 represents the average number of staff employed each month rather than the 
number of days worked. 

 2018( 
£’000( 

2017( 
£’000( 

  ( 
Remuneration 50,117) 50,954) 
National Insurance 4,404) 4,470) 
Pension contributions 4,590) 6,199) 

 _______) _______( 

 59,111) 61,623) 
 _______( _______( 

 
The key management personnel of the charity comprise the Trustees and the Directors, including the Chief 
Executive, as detailed on page 7 and 8.  
 
The total salary of all higher paid employees earning in excess of £60,000, including Directors, are shown in 
bands of £10,000 below: 
   2018 

No. 
2017 

No. 
£60,001 - £70,000 13 10 
£70,001  
£80,001  

- 
- 

£80,000 
£90,000 

- 
1 

1 
- 

£90,001 
£100,001  
£110,001  
£120,001  

- 
- 
- 
- 

£100,000 
£110,000 
£120,000 
£130,000 

4 
1 
- 
1 

4 
2 
- 
1 

   _______ _______ 
   20 18 
   _______ _______ 

 
Under the RSPB’s pension scheme, which is open to all eligible staff, benefits are accruing for 20 (2017: 18) 
higher-paid employees including Directors. There are no enhanced pension benefits for any employees or 
Directors. No other benefits were paid during the year. Pension contributions are made in line with the 
payment schedule recommended by the scheme actuary at the last triennial valuation (see Note 25). The 
highest amount of pension contributions paid to the scheme on behalf of one individual during the year was 
£6,422 (2017: £14,076). 
 
During the year redundancy and settlement payments of £230,723 (2017: £223,311) were made to employees. 
The amount outstanding at 31 March 2017 in respect of those payments was £nil (2017: £11,298). 
 
The total employee benefits (including employer pension contributions and national insurance) of the 8 (2017: 
8) Directors were £775,572 (2017: £993,287) of which, £145,676 (2017: £145,683) was for the Chief 
Executive. The total travelling, accommodation and subsistence expenses reimbursed to them was £32,941 
(2017: £44,045). 
  
The Trustees do not receive any employee benefits. The total reimbursement of travelling, accommodation 
and subsistence expenses incurred by 17 (2017: 14) Trustees on Council business amounted to £25,258 
(2017: £21,289).  
 
Indemnity insurance premiums paid by the RSPB amounted to £2,567 (2017: £2,972). 
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12  Tangible fixed assets – charity and consolidated 

 
 Nature reserves Other tangible assets Total) 
 Freehold 

)land 
 

£’000( 

Leasehold 
)land 

 
£’000( 

Buildings) 
 
 

£’000( 

Other) 
properties) 

 
£’000( 

Motor 
vehicles

) 
£’000( 

Equipment,) 
fixtures and) 

fittings) 
£’000( 

 
 
 

£’000( 
Cost ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
At 1 April 2017 160,539) 1,703) 52,152) 3,662) 4,518) 16,744) 239,318) 
Additions 6,469) 8) 2,187) -) 397) 1,620) 10,681( 
Disposals -( -) (30) -) (402) (316) (748) 
 
At 31 March 2018 

_______ 
167,008) 

______) 
1,711) 

______( 
54,309) 

______) 
3,662) 

______) 
4,513( 

______( 
18,048) 

_______( 
249,251) 

 _______( ______) ______( ______) ______( ______( _______( 
 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
Depreciation ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
At 1 April 2017 -) 480) 17,636) 2,053) 3,658) 15,133) 38,960( 
Charge for the year -) 18) 2,227)    85) 534) 1,160) 4,024( 
Disposals -( -) (17)) -) (392) (272) (681) 
 _______( ______) ______( ______) ______( ______)  ______( 
At 31 March 2018 -( 498( 19,846) 2,138) 3,800) 16,021) 42,303) 
 _______( ______) ______( ______)  ______( ______) ______) 
 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
Net book amount: (      ( 
 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
At 31 March 2018 167,008) 1,213) 34,463) 1,524) 713) 2,027) 206,948( 
 _______( ______) ______) ______) ______) ______) _______( 
 ( ( ( ( ( ( ( 
At 31 March 2017 160,539) 1,223) 34,516) 1,609) 860) 1,611) 200,358( 
 _______( ______) ______) ______) ______) ______) _______( 

 
 
Net book amount: 

 

 
2018 ) 

£’000 ( 

 
2017) 
£’000) 

Nature reserves: ( ( 
Freehold land 167,008 )  160,539) 
Leasehold land 1,213 ) 1,223) 
Buildings 34,463 ) 34,516) 

 _______ ) _______) 

 202,684 ( 196,278) 
Other tangible assets:   

Other properties 1,524 ( 1,609) 
Motor vehicles 713 ( 860) 
Equipment, fixtures and fittings 2,027 ( 1,611) 

 _______)) _______) 
 4,264 ) 4,080) 
 _______ ) _______) 
 206,948 ) 200,358) 
 _______)   _______) 

  
The wholly owned subsidiary March Farmers (Washland) Limited holds Leasehold land of £550,000 (2017: 
£550,000); the leases for this land are held in perpetuity and no depreciation arises. 

 
In 2013, the RSPB entered into a Contingent Asset Agreement with the RSPB Pension Scheme. Under 
this agreement, specified land and buildings, with a fair value just greater than £57,280,000, would pass to 
the Pension Scheme in the unlikely event of the RSPB being unable to meet its obligations to the Scheme. 
The land selected is unencumbered by any legal charges or funding restrictions. 
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 13  Investments – charity and consolidated 

Investments at fair value: 2018( 2017( 
 )£’000( £’000( 
   
Investment cash 4,035( 3,346) 
   
Equities, bonds and other stocks:   

Equities  7,688( 14,165( 
Corporate bonds  1,044( 2,196( 
Government bonds  2,1,607( 3,013( 
Listed Stock Exchange investments 5( 5( 

 _______( _______( 
 10,344( 19,379) 
  

) 
 

Investment properties within the UK 1,657( 1,992( 
 _______( _______( 
 16,036) 24,717) 
 _______) _______) 

 
Equities, Corporate bonds and Government bonds are held in unit trusts. 
 
Investment properties were revalued at 31 March, based on their fair value on that date. The revaluation 
was carried out internally by a qualified professional land surveyor. The amount includes property 
assigned under legacy bequests and donated property. 
 
 

 

Movement during the year: 2018( 2017( 
 )£’000( £’000( 
   

Fair value at 1 April  
 

24,717)    21,727 

Disposals (10,331) --(1,565) 
Fees (47) (80) 
Additions  
Dividends reinvested 
Net gain on revaluation at 31 March  

)32( 
)40( 

)936( 

1,140( 
83( 

2,595( 
Movement in investment cash )689( 817) 

 _______( _______( 
Fair value at 31 March 16,036) 24,717) 
 _______) _______) 
   
Historical cost as at 31 March  10,254) 15,115) 
 _______) _______) 

 
The Charity investments in its wholly owned subsidiaries are held at cost and represent the aggregate amount of 
the subsidiaries’ assets, liabilities and funds. The subsidiary investments are: 
 

 2018( 2017( 
 
 

)£’000( £’000( 

RSPB Sales Limited 3,250) 3,250( 
March Farmers (Washland) Limited 551) 551( 

 _______) 
 

 (_______) 

 3,801) 3,801( 
 _______) _______) 
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14 Debtors – charity and consolidated 

 2018) 
Consolidated) 

total)  
£’000) 

2017( 
Consolidated) 

(total) 
£’000( 

2018) 
Charity)  

 
£’000) 

2017)))
Charity)))

)) 
£’000) 

     
Trade debtors 4,755( 3,735( 3,083) 2,849) 
Other debtors 3,538( 3,537) 3,379( 3,476) 
Legacies 2,107( 1,432) 2,107( 1,432) 
Prepayments and accrued income 13,797( 9,687) 13,557( 9,483) 
Amounts due from subsidiaries -( -) 5,716( 5,156) 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
 24,197( 18,391( 27,842( 22,396) 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 

Other debtors include a provision of £914 as a result of a gain on revaluation of forward exchange contracts at their 
fair value at 31 March 2018. 
 
At the end of the year, four forward exchange contracts with a combined sales value of 875,000 were outstanding. 
All four contracts will have completed by 1 January 2020, at Euro/GBP rates between 1.1314 and 1.1477.  
 
Contracts to sell Euro are taken out in order to hedge forward currency exposure on future income.  

 

 

15  Creditors: amounts falling due within one year – charity and consolidated 

 
 2018) 

Consolidated) 
total)  

£’000) 

2017( 
Consolidated) 

(total) 
£’000( 

2018)) 
Charity)) 

 
£’000)) 

2017)))
 Charity)))

   £’000 

 Trade creditors 5,290( 4,292))) 4,665)( 3,918) )
Other creditors 334( 366) 304 365) 
Deferred income (see Note 17) 1,670( 1,733) 1,361 1,412) 
Accruals 4,714( 3,841) 4,468 3,471( 
Amounts owed to subsidiaries               -) -) - 14) 

 _______) _______) _______ _______) 
 12,008( 10,232) 10,798 9,180( 
 _______) _______) _______ _______) 

     
 
 

 

16  Commitments 

Commitments for capital expenditure at 31 March 2018 not provided for in the accounts were £3,544,940 (2017: 
£1,922,000). 
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17    Deferred income – charity and consolidated 
Movement during the year: 2018) 2017) 
 £’000) £’000) 
Creditors amounts falling due in more than one year:   

Balance at 1 April 826) 840) 
Amount released to income (1)   -) 
Amounts due within one year -( (14) 

 ______) ________) 
Balance at 31 March 825) 826) 

   
Creditors amounts falling due within one year:   

Balance at 1 April 1,733) 1,375) 
Amount released to income (1,635) (1,262) 
Amount deferred in the year 
Amounts transferred from creditors due in more than one year 

1,572) 
-) 

1,606) 
 14) 

 ______) ________) 
Balance at 31 March 1,670) 1,733) 

 ______) ________) 
Deferred income: Balance at 31 March 2,495) 2,559) 

 ______) ________) 

 
Deferred income includes lease premiums of £825,000 (2017: £826,000) received and amortised over the life of the 
leases. Income of £1,572,000 (2017: £1,606,000), was deferred in the year; this amount comprised grants and other 
income of £1,263,000 (2017: £1,285,000) and commercial trading of £309,000 (2017: £321,000). 

18  Operating leases – commitments and contracted income 
 
Commitments: 
Properties and equipment are leased by the RSPB for defined periods. The full cost of these over the lease 
period is shown below: 

   2018) 2017) 
Revised 

 Land and) 
buildings( 

 Other) Total) Total( 

 £’000( £’000)  £’000) £’000( 
     

Less than 1 year 2,126) 50) 2,176) 2,153) 
2-5 years 5,066) 16( 5,082) 4,961) 
Over 5 years 8,717) -) 8,717) 8,537) 

 _______) _______) _______) _______) 
 15,909) 66) 15,975) 15,651) 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 
Lease payments of £2,461,404 (2017: £2,184,222) were charged to the Consolidated statement of financial 
Activities during the year. 
 
Contracted income: 

   2018) 2017 
Revised 

   ( Total) Total( 
    ( £’000) £’000))) 

     
Less than 1 year   717) 757) 
2-5 years   969( 1,002) 
Over 5 years   2,650) 1,654) 

   _______) _______) 
   4,336) 3,413) 
   _______()) _______) 

 
Lease income of £871,560 (2017: £853,237) was credited to the Consolidated statement of financial activities 
during the year. All lease income relates to land and buildings. 

  

38 Trustees’ report and accounts 



Trustees’ report and accounts 2017-18 39

Notes to the accounts

RSPB Trustees’ Report and Accounts 2017-18  Notes to the accounts  

 

 

19  Contingent liabilities 

 
The Trustees have given indemnities to executors under the standard terms for legacies received; they believe the 

chance of significant claims arising as a result of these to be negligible. 

20  Financial instruments 
 Fair value Amortised) 

cost) 
Total financial) 

instruments) 
Non financial  
Instruments 

2018) 
Total( 

 £’000 £’000) £’000) £’000 £’000( 
Assets 
 Tangible assets 

 
- 

 
-( 

 
-( 

 
206,948( 

 
206,948( 

 Investments 16,036 -( 16,036( -( 16,036( 
 Stock - -(  -(  4,015( 4,015( 
 Debtors  
 Cash at bank and in hand 
 

- 
- 

22,386( 
9,209( 

22,386( 
9,209( 

1,811(  
-( 

24,197( 
9,209( 

Liabilities      
Creditors due within one year 
Creditors due after one year 

- 
- 

_______ 

(10,338) 
-( 

_______ 

(10,338) 
-( 

_______ 

(1,670) 
(825) 

_______ 

(12,008) 
(825) 

_______ 

   16,036  
_______ 

 
 

   21,257) 
_______ 

37,293( 
_______ 

210,279(  
_______ 

247,572) 
_______

_______-
___________

_______ 
      
The income, expenditure and net gains and losses recognised in the Consolidated statement of financial 
activities are shown below: 
 

 
 
   Fair value 

 
Amortised) 

cost) 
2018) 
Total) 

   £’000) £’000) £’000) 
      
Investment income 
Investment management costs 

  )25( 
(88) 

47) 
-) 

72) 
(88) 

Foreign exchange loss         -) (31)     (31)  
Net gains on investments   )936( 

______( 
-) 

   _______( 
936( 

_______( 

   )873( 
       ______( 

16( 
    _______( 

 889( 
______) 
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21  Statement of funds – charity and consolidated 

The purpose for which funds are held can be analysed as follows: 
 

Consolidated Total)  
Funds) 
1 April) 

2017) 
£’000( 

Incoming
) 
 
 

£’000( 

Outgoing) 
 
 

£’000) 

Other) 
recognised) 

gains / 
(losses)) 

£’000( 

Transfers
) 
 
 

£’000) 

Total) 
funds) 

31 March) 
2018) 

£’000( 
Unrestricted funds:       

General funds 36,797( 102,716) (107,875) 936) (111) 32,463 
Designated land fund 62,024) -( -) -) 111 62,135) 
Pension Liability (90,314) 2,508) -) 14,190) -) (73,616) 
 _______) _______) _______( _______( _______( _______) 
Total unrestricted funds 8,507( 105,224) (107,875) 15,126( -) 20,982) 

       
Restricted funds:       

Nature reserves 140,628( 5,817) - -) -)   146,445 
Other tangible assets 490( 356) (212) -) -)      634 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 3,181(   )16,495 (17,216) -) -)     2,460 
Research, policy and advisory  
Education and inspiring support 

2,544( 
337) 

)8,045 
)2,538 

(9,069) 
(2,225) 

-) 
-) 

-) 
-) 

    1,520 
    )650 

 _______) _______) _______( _______( _______( _______) 
Total restricted funds 147,180( 33,251 (28,722) -) -)   151,709 

       
Endowment funds 1,387( (122) -) -) -)     1,265 
 _______) _______) _______ _______) _______)  _______ 

Total funds 157,074( 138,353) (136,597)    15,126 -(   173,956 
 _______) _______) _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 
A review of funds during the year resulted in the net transfer of £111,000 to the Designated land fund from the 
General fund. 
 
 
Inter-company reconciliation 
 

 RSPB Charity 
 

2018 
£’000 

Farming( 
for Nature( 

2018( 
£’000( 

 

March Farmers 
(Washland) Ltd 

2018 
£’000 

RSPB Sales 
Ltd

2018
£’000

Elimination 
 

2018 
£’000 

RSPB 
Consolidated 

2018 
£’000 

Incoming 114,257( 405) 169) 30,788) (7,266) 138,353( 

Outgoing (112,501) (276) (111) (23,709) -( (136,597) 

Other 
recognised 
gains 

15,126( -( -( -( -( 15,126( 

 
 

 _______ ______
) 

_______) _______) _______) _______) 

Profit 16,882( 129) 58) 7,079) (7,266) 16,882( 
 _______ ______

) 
_______) _______) _______ _______ 

Gift aided -( (129) (58) (7,079) 7,266( -( 
  _______) ______

) 
_______) _______) _______) _______) 

Net movement 
in funds  

16,882( 
_______( 

-( 
______ 

-( 
_______ 

-(
_______

-( 
(_______ 

16,882( 
_______( 

Net Assets at 
31 March 
2017 

157,081( (6)( 551( 3,250( (3,802) 157,074(( 

Opening 
balance 
adjustment 

(7) 6( -( -( 1(( -(( 

Net Assets at 
31 March 
2018 

173,956( 
 

-) 
 

551) 
 

 3,250)
)

(3,801) 
 

173,956(( 
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21  Statement of funds – charity and consolidated (continued) 

The Charity holds a 33% joint venture interest in Yayasan Konservasi Ekosistem Hutan, a non-profit organisation 
registered in Indonesia and established to facilitate the acquisition and management of the Harapan Rainforest, 
Sumatra. Based on the latest financial statements available for the year ending 31 December 2017, the Charity's 
share of the net assets, income and surplus / (deficit) were £521,214, £83,719 and £1,983 respectively (2017: 
£605,314, £334,086, and (£12,077). We are not aware of any transactions that would significantly alter these 
figures for the year ending 31 March 2018.  
 
The results have not been consolidated into the core financial statements; to do so would not materially alter them. 
 
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Charity paid £105,000 (2017: £183,000) to Yayasan Konservasi 
Ekosistem Hutan.  
 
Unrestricted funds include free and general funds that are not designated for particular purposes. 
 
Designated funds comprise the Land Fund which represents land and buildings purchased using unrestricted funds 
including the investment in March Farmers (Washland) Limited. 
 
Restricted funds comprise: 
 The Nature reserves fund represents the historic cost of nature reserves acquired using restricted funds and a 

further £5,895,568 (2017: £6,374,000) held for future acquisitions. 
 The other funds held for charitable objectives include grants received of £968,368 (2017: £1,671,917) in 

advance of the associated work being carried out.  
 
Endowment funds comprise the following expendable and permanent endowments: 
 The Hanson Environment Fund granted an endowment of £1,000,000 in 2002 for the creation and 

management of Needingworth wetland nature reserve. Investment income, net of fees, for this endowment is 
currently accruing to the fund. During the year, £127,428 (2017: £83,886) was expended on the nature 
reserve. It is RSPB’s intention to fully spend the total funds on the project on compliant Landfill Communities 
Fund works as soon as practicably possible – both the capital and the interest. 

22 Analysis of net assets between funds 
The Trustees consider that sufficient resources are held in a suitable form to enable them to be applied in 
accordance with any restrictions imposed, as set out below: 
 

 Unrestricted funds Restricted) 
funds) 

Endowment) 
funds) 

Total) 
funds) 

 General( Designated) ) ) 31 March) 
2018) 

 £’000( £’000( £’000) £’000) £’000) 
Asset type:       

Nature reserves        -     62,135 140,549) -) 202,684) 
Other tangible assets 3,629) -) 635) -) 4,264) 
Investments 11,931) -) 2,840) 1,265) 16,036) 
Current assets 28,620) -) 8,801) -) )37,421( 
Current liabilities (10,892) -) (1,116) -) (12,008) 
Long term liabilities (825) -) -) -) (825) 

 ______) ______) ______) ______) _______ 
Net assets excluding pension liability 32,463) 62,135) 151,709) 1,265) 247,572   
      

Pension liability (73,616) -) -) -) (73,616) 
 ______) ______) ______) ______) _______ 
Net (liabilities)/assets (41,153) 62,135) 151,709) 1,265) 173,956 
 ______) ______) ______) ______) _______ 
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22  Analysis of net assets between funds (continued) 

Free reserves which are available to be applied at the discretion of the Trustees are held as investments or 
working capital: 

 
 

  
23 Connected charities and related party transactions 

The RSPB is one of the global partners in BirdLife International (registered charity number 1042125), an umbrella 
organisation for entities with similar objectives throughout the world.  
 
Further information about this organisation can be obtained by writing to BirdLife International at The David 
Attenborough Building, Pembroke Street, Cambridge, CB2 3QZ. 
 
During the year, donations of £1,430 (2017: £1,241) were received from Trustees and persons related to them. 
 

 Transactions with subsidiaries during the year: 
 

Subsidiaries 
 
 
 
Balance at 1 April 2017  

 Farming for  
Nature 

  £’000)) 
 

168  

March Farmers))   
(Washland) Ltd)))              

£’000)) 
          

(14) 

RSPB Sales Ltd)) 
)) 

£’000)) 
 

4,988) 
    
Gift aid paid (160) (51)) (5,491)) 
Gift aid due 129( 58))        7,079)) 
Net expenditure paid on behalf of subsidiaries  
 

106) 
_____) 

142)) 
_____) 

   (1,238)) 
_____) 

Balance at 31 March 2018 243)            135) 5,338)) 
 _____) _____-)  _____)) 

24 Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities 

  2018) 
£’000) 

    2017))( 
    £’000))) 

)( 
 Net Income for year:  2,692( 5,620))) 
 Adjustments for:   
   Depreciation on fixed assets 4,024( 3,999))) 
   Gains on investments (929) ((6,532))) 
   Interest and dividends received (229) (156))) 
   Profit on sale of tangible assets 

  Gift of land 
  Donated investment property 

(475) 
     (3,450) 

     -( 

(109))) 
-((( 

(1,100))) 
   (Increase) in stocks (93) (714))) 
   (Increase) / decrease in debtors  (5,806) 2,071))( 
   Increase / (decrease) in creditors 1,775( (729))) 
  _______ _______)) 
  (2,491) 2,350()) 
    
 Movement in pension scheme (2,508) (1,076)() 
  _______ _______)) 
 Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (4,999) 1,274(() 
  _______ _______() 

 Unrestricted funds Restricted Endowment) Total 
 
 
 
Net assets excluding pension liability 

   General 
£’000) 

 
32,463) 

 Designated 
£’000 

 
62,135) 

funds) 
£’000) 

 
151,709) 

funds) 
£’000) 

 
1,265) 

 funds 
£’000 

 
247,572 

      
Less: Operating assets:      

   Nature reserves -) (62,135) (140,549) -) (202,684) 
   Other tangible assets (3,629) -) (635) -) (4,264) 

    ______)   ______)   ______     _____) ______ 
Available reserves 28,834) -) 10,525) 1,265) 40,624 
 
Less: Restricted and endowment 
 
Free reserves 

 
-) 

______) 
28,834) 

 
-) 

______) 
-) 

 
(10,525) 
______) 

-) 

 
(1,265) 
_____) 

-) 

 
(11,790) 
______ 
28,834 

 ______) ______) ______) _____) ______ 
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25 Pensions 

The defined benefit scheme operated by the RSPB was closed in March 2017. The assets of the scheme are held 
separately from those of the RSPB, being invested by professional fund managers, in accordance with guidelines 
issued by the Trustees of the pension fund. 
 
A full actuarial valuation is undertaken by the Pension Trustees and their advisers every three years. The last 
valuation was carried out as at 1 April 2015. As part of the valuation the Society’s contributions to the Scheme are 
agreed by the Trustees, certified by the Scheme Actuary and recorded in a Schedule of Contributions. The current 
Schedule of Contributions is dated 30 June 2016.  
 
 
Changes in defined benefit obligation: 

 2018) 
£’000( 

2017) 
£’000( 

   

Defined benefit obligation at start of year 281,440( 218,519( 

Current service cost -( 6,199( 
Scheme changes 
Interest expense 

-( 
7,196( 

270( 
7,752( 

Member contributions -( 116( 

Remeasurements (11,679) 54,943( 
Benefits paid (9,366) (6,359) 

 _______ _______ 

Defined benefit obligation at end of year 267,591( 281,440( 

 _______ _______ 
 
 
 
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position: 

 2018( 
£’000( 

2017( 
£’000( 

   

Defined benefit obligation 267,591( 281,440( 

Fair value of scheme assets (193,975) (191,126) 

 _______ _______ 

Net defined benefit liability (asset) 73,616( 90,314( 

 _______ _______ 

 
 
 
Changes in scheme assets: 

 2018) 
£’000( 

2017) 
£’000( 

   

Fair value of scheme assets at start of year 191,126( 
 

159,507( 
 

Interest income 4,910( 5,801( 

Remeasurements 2,511( 22,565( 
Employer contribution 4,794( 9,496( 

Member contributions -( 116( 

Benefits paid (9,366) (6,359) 
 _______ _______( 

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year  
193,975( 

 
191,126( 

 _______( _______( 
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25 Pensions (continued) 
 
Cost relating to defined benefit plans: 

 2018) 
£’000( 

2017) 
£’000( 

   
Current service cost -( 6,199( 
Interest expense 7,196( 7,752( 
Interest income    (4,910) (5,801) 
(Gain) / loss on curtailments / changes / introductions -( 270( 

 _______ _______( 
Cost relating to defined benefit plans included in SOFA 2,286( 8,420( 

   
 
Total remeasurements included in SOFA 
 

 
(14,190) 

 
32,378( 

 _______ _______( 
 
Total cost related to defined benefit plans recognized in SOFA 

 
(11,904) 

 
40,798( 

 _______ _______( 
 

The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage of total scheme assets: 
 2018) 2017) 

   
Equities, hedge funds and commodities 68.7% 73.3% 
Gilts and bonds (including LDI) 17.0% 10.6% 
Property 8.9% 9.0% 
Cash 5.3% 7.0% 
Insured policies 0.1% 0.1% 
 _______( _______( 

 
 
Actual return on the scheme assets during the year: 

 2018) 
£’000( 

2017) 
£’000( 

   
Actual return on the scheme assets during the year 7,421 25,167 
 _______( _______( 

 
 
Principal assumptions expressed as weighted averages: 

 2018) 2017) 
   
Discount rate 2.70% 2.60% 
Rate of increase in salaries 3.00% 2.97% 
Rate of increase of pensions in payment:   

Pre 97 (pre 97 excess over GMP) 3.00% 3.00% 
Post 97/pre 07 pension 3.00% 3.00% 
Post 07 pension 1.60% 1.80% 

Rate of increase of pensions in deferment  2.00% 2.10% 
RPI Inflation 3.00% 3.10% 
CPI Inflation 2.00% 2.10% 
 _______( _______( 

 
 
Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables used to determine benefit obligations: 

 2018) 2017) 
 Years) Years) 

   
Member aged 65 (current life expectancy) – male 23.2 23.1 
Member aged 45 (life expectancy at 65) – male        25.0        24.9 
Member aged 65 (current life expectancy) – female 25.2 25.2 
Member aged 45 (life expectancy at 65) – female 27.2 27.1 
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26 Comparative statements 
Consolidated statement of financial activities  
for the year ended 31 March 2017 
 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
 
INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS  

Note Unrestricted) 
funds) 
£’000 ) 

Restricted) 
    funds) 
    £’000) 

Endowment( 
funds( 
£’000( 

2017) 
Total( 
£’000( 

 

Voluntary income       
Membership subscriptions and donations 3 45,503) 5,862) -) 51,365(  
Legacies 4 29,915) 4,784)    -) 34,699)  
Grants, corporates and trusts 5 701) 20,195) (84) 20,812)  
  _______)   _______)  _______ _______)  

Total voluntary income  76,119) 30,841) (84) 106,876(  
       
Commercial trading 6 22,921) -) -) 22,921)  
       
Investment income and interest 7 162) -) 12) 174(  
       

Charitable activities      
Fees and grants for services  1,082) -) -) 1,082(  
Land and farming income  2,114) -) -) 2,114)  
Events and media sales  

 
 904) 

_______) 
-) 

  _______) 
-) 

_______) 
904( 

_______) 
 

Total income from charitable activities  4,100) -) -) 4,100(  
       
Other income       

Net gains on disposals of fixed assets 7 
 

108) 
_______) 

-) 
  _______) 

-) 
_______) 

108( 
_______) 

 

Total income  103,410) 30,841) (72) 134,179(  
  _______) )_______) )_______) )_______)  
EXPENDITURE ON:       
Cost of raising funds       

Costs of generating voluntary income  20,336) -) -) 20,336)  
Costs of commercial trading  15,683) -) -) 15,683)  
Investment management costs  

 
143) 

_______) 
-) 

_______ 
-) 

_______) 
143( 

________ 
 

Total cost of raising funds 36,162) -) -) 36,162(  
       

Net resources available for charitable activities 67,248) 30,841) (72) 98,017(  
       
Charitable Activities       

Research, policy and advisory  26,924) 9,785) -) 36,709)  
Managing RSPB nature reserves 19,848) 16,604) -) 36,452)  
Education and inspiring support  19,725) 1,589) -) 21,314)  
Supporter care  

 
4,454) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
-) 

_______) 
4,454) 

_______) 
 

Total expenditure on charitable activities 70,951) 27,978) -) 98,929(  
      

       

Total expenditure 

 

Net gains on investments 

8 

 

107,113) 

 

6,532) 

_______) 

   27,978) 

 

         -) 

______) 

-) 

 

-) 

_______) 

135,091) 

 

6,532( 

 _______) 

 

NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) 
  

2,829) 
_______) 

2,863) 
______) 

(72) 
_______) 

5,620) 
_______) 

 

 
Actuarial (losses) on pension scheme 

 

 
25 

      
(32,378)) 
_______) 

   
     -(          

((((______) 

    
     -( 

_______) 
 

 
(32,378) 
_______ 

 

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS 
 
 

 (29,549)) 
_______ 

2,863) 
  ______) 

(72)) 
_______ 

 (26,758) 
_______) 

 

Reconciliation of funds       

Total funds brought forward          38,056( 
_______) 

144,317) 
______) 

1,459) 
_______) 

  183,832 
_______ 

 

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  
 

8,507) 
_______) 

147,180( 
______) 

1,387) 
_______) 

157,074 
_______ 
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26 Comparative statements-continued 

Statement of funds – charity and consolidated for the year ended 31 March 2017 
 

Consolidated  Total) 
funds) 

1 April) 
2016) 

£’000( 

Incoming
) 
 
 

£’000( 

Outgoing
) 
 
 

£’000) 

Other) 
recognised) 

gains/ 
(losses) 

£’000( 

Transfers
) 
 
 

£’000) 

Total) 
funds) 

31 March) 
2017) 

£’000( 
Unrestricted funds:       

General funds 35,552( 102,334) (107,113) 6,532( (508)  36,797 
Designated land fund 61,516)       - -) -) 508) 62,024) 
Pension Liability (59,012)   1,076 -) (32,378) -) (90,314) 

 _______) _______) _______( _______( _______( _______) 
Total unrestricted funds 38,056( 103,410) (107,113) (25,846) -) 8,507) 

       
Restricted funds:       

Nature reserves 135,880( 4,748) - -)       - 140,628) 
Other tangible assets 414( 391) (315) -)       - 490) 
Managing RSPB nature reserves 4,888(   14,582) (16,289) -)       - 3,181) 
Research, policy and advisory  
Education and inspiring support 

2,823( 
312) 

9,506) 
1,614) 

(9,785) 
(1,589) 

-) 
-) 

-) 
-) 

2,544) 
337) 

 _______) _______) _______( _______( _______( _______) 
Total restricted funds 144,317( 30,841) (27,978)         - -) 147,180) 

       
Endowment funds 1,459(      (72) -) -) -) 1,387) 
 _______) _______ _______ _______) _______) _______) 

Total funds 183,832( 134,179) (135,091) (25,846) -( 157,074) 
 _______) _______ _______) _______) _______) _______) 

 
 
Analysis of net assets between funds for the year ended 31 March 2017 

 Unrestricted funds Restricted) Endowment) Total) funds) 
 General( Designated) funds) funds) 31 March) 

2017) 
 £’000( £’000( £’000) £’000) £’000) 
Asset type:       

Nature reserves        -     62,024 134,254) -) 196,278) 
Other tangible assets 3,590) -) 490) -) 4,080) 
Investments 18,811) -) 4,519) 1,387) 24,717) 
Current assets 22,665) -) 10,706) -) 33,371) 
Current liabilities (7,443) -) (2,789) -) (10,232) 
Long-term liabilities (826) -) -) -) (826) 

 ______) ______) ______) ______) _______ 
Net assets excluding pension liability 36,797) 62,024) 147,180) 1,387)   247,388) 
      

Pension liability (90,314) -) -) -) (90,314) 
 ______) ______) ______) ______) ______) 
Net (liabilities)/assets (53,517) 62,024) 147,180) 1,387) 157,074) 
 ______) ______) ______) ______) ______) 
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How you can help the RSPB 
There are many ways you can help and this section 
outlines the most common ways people support us - 
just choose whatever suits you.  
 
Join the RSPB 
Whether you want membership for yourself or 
someone else, why not join today? 
 
Remember nature in your will 
If you have had a lifetime's pleasure from nature, 
why not help ensure its future by leaving a legacy to 
the RSPB in your will? Any amount, large or small, 
will be put to excellent use. 
 
Campaigns and appeals 
Support our campaigns and appeals and you can 
help our work to secure a healthy environment for 
birds and wildlife. We need your support to help wild 
birds and the wild places they live in - and to 
demand better laws to protect them. 
 
Shopping 
Buy your gifts, bird food, binoculars and a range of 
other products from us. Or support us through 
RSPB Energy, holidays and more. All sales benefit 
the RSPB. 

 
Get involved 
Writing letters and e-mails direct to your MP and 
other decision-makers can really make a difference 
for birds and wildlife. Join other RSPB campaigners 
and make sure your voice is heard. 
 
Fundraise for wildlife 
Have fun and meet like-minded people. Learn new 
skills, put old ones to good use and help birds and 
wildlife while you do it. 
 
Local groups 
An RSPB local group is a great way to meet new 
friends and help out the RSPB where you live. They 
are open to all and you will receive a very warm 
welcome. 
 
Volunteering for the RSPB 
Looking for an exciting and interesting way to make 
a difference for wild birds and the environment? 
Why not consider volunteering? You don't have to 
know anything about birds to volunteer with the 
RSPB.  
 
For more information on how you can support 
the RSPB please visit our website rspb.org.uk 
or telephone Membership Services on 01767 
693680 
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Acknowledgements 2017-18 – thank you for supporting us 

 
Members and supporters 

The support and loyalty of our members is critical to 
the success and achievements of the RSPB. 
Meeting the rigorous conservation targets that we 
set would not be possible without the enormous 
contributions that members make.  
 
Members help in many ways, all of them equally 
important, including: financially, through 
volunteering, by supporting RSPB campaigns 
through letter writing, and by helping to deliver 
RSPB projects on the ground through local groups.  
 
We would also like to thank all of the supporters 
who contribute generously through in memoriam, 
raffles, lotteries, payroll giving, regular gifts, appeals 
and other forms of support. 

Legacies 

Legacy income makes a vital impact on our 
conservation work each year. Whilst it is impossible 
to thank every single one of our generous 
benefactors here, we would like to mention the 
following: 
 
• Miss Barbara Aske Bettridge 
• Mr Brian Edward Brown 
• Mrs Jean Ethel Hall 
• Ms Gwendolen Mary Hunt-Jones 
• Mr Harrison Jones 
• Miss Veronica Josephine MacMillan 
• Mr Maurice George Benjamin Melzak 
• Miss Margaret Elizabeth Meredith 
• Mr Charles Edward Victor Saxton 
• Miss Isobel Marjorie Stewart 
• Mrs Margaret Irene Summers 
• Mrs José Margaret Tsiknakis 
• Mrs Hazel Kathleen Wright  

 

Community groups 

RSPB local groups, RSPB Wildlife Explorer groups 
and RSPB Phoenix groups worked unstintingly over 
the year. Our local groups provide a great focus for 
us in local communities, involve many people in our 
work, and raised £317,000 for RSPB conservation 
projects. 

Volunteers 

The RSPB enjoyed the support of 11,973 
volunteers last year, giving the RSPB a gift of time 
of 972,778 hours. 24% of all the time worked to 
save nature is undertaken by our volunteers and 
they account for 85% of our workforce.  
 
These volunteers helped with virtually every aspect 
of the RSPB's work, and we cannot thank them 
enough for their generous support. Additionally, 
451,300 people gave an hour of their time to 
participate in the RSPB's Big Garden Birdwatch. 

Heritage Lottery Fund 

The Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) has provided 
essential support for RSPB projects to restore our 
natural heritage and bring nature into people’s 
everyday lives. The RSPB is indebted to HLF for 
their continued support for our work. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Trustees’ report and accounts 2017-18 49

Acknowledgements

RSPB Trustees’ Report and Accounts 2017-18  Acknowledgements  

Trustees’ report and accounts  49 

 

Charitable trusts, non-governmental organisations and individual donors 

We are grateful for the support received and would particularly like to acknowledge the following: 

• Agreement on the Conservation of 
 Albatrosses and Petrels (ACAP) 
• Derek Allpass Foundation 
• Alpine Garden Society 
• Angus and Dundee Bird Club 
• Jeanne Arnold and Ray Arnold 
• A J H Ashby Will Trust 
• Mr Geoff Ball 
• Baltic Sea Conservation Foundation 
• The Banister Charitable Trust 
• Mrs Elizabeth Bell 
• Mr Dennis John Bennett Discretionary Trust 
• Birdlife International 
• British Birdwatching Fair 
• British Trust for Ornithology (BTO) 
• Brown Forbes Memorial Fund 
• Mr Roger Charles Burchett 
• Cambridge Conservation Initiative (CCI) 
• Sir Charles Chadwyck-Healey 
• Charities Aid Foundation 
• Charities Trust 
• Comic Relief 
• Conservation International (CI) 
• Ms Miel de Botton 
• Ms E Desmond 
• Devon Birds 
• Louis Frederick De Warr Discretionary Trust 
• EcoFac 
• John Ellerman Foundation 
• The ERM Foundation 
• Esmée Fairbairn Foundation 
• European Bird Census Council 
 – Pan-European Common Bird Monitoring 
 Scheme (PECBMS) 
• European Outdoor Conservation Association 
• Sir Graham and Lady Toyoko Fry 
• The Gannochy Trust 
• Garfield Weston Foundation 
• Gillman Charitable Trusts 
• Mr Pat and Mrs Karin Goss 
• Mr Richard Hale 
• The Hasluck Charitable Trust 
• International Eco Fund 
• International Union for Conservation of Nature 
(IUCN) 
• Dr Peter A Lawrence and The Betty Liebert 
 Trust 
• A. G. Leventis Foundation 
• Los Angeles Zoo and Botanical Gardens/ 
 Greater Los Angeles Zoo Association 
• Ludwick Family Foundation 
• Ms Camilla Rosemary Lyster Discretionary 
 Will Trust 
• The Lytham Schools Foundation 
• The Gerald Micklem Charitable Trust 

• National Birds of Prey Trust 
• National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 
• The National Trust 
• The Nature Trust (Sandy) Ltd 
• The Bill Nygren Foundation 
• Oglesby Charitable Trust 
• The Orr Mackintosh Foundation (Sharegift) 
• The David and Lucile Packard Foundation 
• Friends of Pagham Harbour 
• The Peacock Charitable Trust 
• Mr C Pettiward 
• Pew Charitable Trust 
• Postcode Local Trust 
• The Annie Powell Discretionary Trust 
• Rainforest Trust 
• Renewables Grid Initiative, Stiftung Mercator 
 and the European Climate Foundation 
• Ridgeback Charitable Trust 
• The Rufford Foundation 
• Scottish Mines Restoration Trust 
• ScottishPower Foundation 
• Scottish Wildlife Trust 
• Mrs Hilda Mary Slee Discretionary Trust 
• Peter Smith Charitable Trust for Nature 
• The Spear Charitable Trust 
• St Aidan's Trust Fund 
• Nini Isabel Stewart Trust 
• Stockholm Environment Institute (York Centre) 
• Sussex Lund 
• Sussex Ornithological Society 
• Sustrans 
• Mr K D Sutton and Harewood Downs 
 Golf Club 
• John Swire 1989 Charitable Trust 
• The Truell Conservation Foundation 
• Ulster Garden Villages 
• University of Cambridge 
• University of East Anglia 
• Vetwork UK 
• Whitley Animal Protection Trust 
• Colin Williams Charitable Trust 
• J & J R Wilson Charitable Trust 
• Woodland Trust 
• World Conservation Monitoring 
 Centre (WCMC) 
• The John Young Charitable Trust 
• Zoo Basel 
 
 
We would also like to acknowledge supporters 
who wish to remain anonymous, who 
have generously contributed towards our 
conservation work. 
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Landfill Communities Fund  

 
We are grateful for funding support from the following organisations through the Landfill Communities Fund and 
the Scottish Landfill Communities Fund: 

 
• Angus Environmental Trust 
• Biffa Award 
• EB Scotland Ltd 
• Enovert Community Trust - (formerly Cory 
 Environmental Trust in Britain) 
• Environmental Projects Agency Ltd UK 
 (NEWS) 
• FCC Environment through WREN 
• lbstock Enovert Trust (formerly Ibstock Cory 
 Environmental Trust) 

• Lancashire Environmental Fund 
• Newport City Council 
• Northumbrian Water 
• SUEZ Communities Trust Ltd 
• Tees Valley Community Foundation 
• Teesside Environmental Trust 
• Trust for Oxfordshire's Environment (TOE2) 
• Veolia Environmental Trust 
• Viridor Credits Environmental Company  

 
 

Business supporters 

The RSPB enjoys successful partnerships with business supporters to our mutual benefit. We would particularly 
like to acknowledge the following:  

 
• ALDI Stores Ltd 
• Anesco Ltd 
• The Ardmore 
• Barratt Developments plc 
• Bowland Brewery 
• The Caravan and Motorhome Club (CAMC) 
• CEMEX UK Ltd 
• Clifford Chance LLP 
• Co-operative Bank 
• Ecotricity Group Ltd 
• Essex and Suffolk Water 
• The Famous Grouse 
• Hanson UK Ltd 
• HSBC UK 
• Hurtigruten Ltd 
• idverde UK Ltd 
• Kantar TNS 
• Kingfisher plc 
• Lush Ltd 
• Maginus Software Solutions Ltd 
• Marshalls Mono Ltd 
• National Grid plc 
• PwC 

• Reed Smith LLP 
• Rohan Designs Ltd 
• SABIC UK Petrochemicals 
• Scotrail 
• ScottishPower 
• ScottishPower Renewables 
• Scottish Water 
• SSE Renewable Generation 
• Smith & Sons (Bletchington) Ltd 
• Swarovski Optik 
• Tarmac Trading Ltd 
• Tesco Bags of Help 
• Tideway 
• TransPennine Express Transform Fund 
• Turcan Connell 
• United Utilities plc 
• Vattenfall 
• Walkers Shortbread 
• Weird Fish Clothing Ltd 
• Withers LLP 
• Wyndham Vacation Rentals 
• Yorkshire Water
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Support from statutory sector and other public bodies  

We are grateful for co-operation and support from organisations of many kinds, and would especially like to thank 
the following: 

 
• Aberdeen Harbour's Community Action Fund 
• Allen Valleys Landscape Partnership through 
 North Pennines AONB Partnerships 
• Armagh City, Banbridge & Craigavon 
 Borough Council 
• Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 
• Big Lottery Fund 
• Big Lottery Fund – People and Places 
• Cairngorms National Park Authority 
• Clackmannanshire Council 
• Coastal Communities Fund Grant 
• The Crown Estate 
• D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership 
• Danish Development Assistance Programme 
 (DANIDA) 
• The Darwin Initiative - funded by the 
 UK Government 
• The Dedham Vale / Suffolk Coasts and 
 Heath AONB 
• Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
 Affairs (Defra) 
• Department of Agriculture, Environment and 
 Rural Affairs (DAERA) NI 
• Department of Housing, Planning and Local 
 Government NI 
• Environment Agency 
• Environment Agency Northern Ireland 
• European Agricultural Fund for Rural 
 Development (EAFRD) 
• European Agricultural Fund for Rural 
 Development through the RDPE LEADER 
 funding programme via the Central Sussex 
 Local Action Group 
• European Climate Foundation 
• European Commission – BEST 
• European Commission – DG Environment 
• European Commission – European Maritime 
 and Fisheries Fund (EMFF) 
• European Commission – LIFE 
• European Commission – Thematic 
 Programme for Environment and Sustainable 
 Management of Natural Resources including 
 Energy (ENRTP) 
• European Union – European Environment 
 Agency 
• European Union through the European Regional 
 Development Fund (ERDF) 
• The European Regional Development Fund 
 (INTERREG VA) managed by the Special EU 
 Programmes Body 
• Fermanagh & Omagh District Council 
• Forestry Commission England 
• Forestry Commission Scotland 
• Glasgow Council 
• Global Environment Facility (GEF) 
• Government of South Georgia & the South 
 Sandwich Islands 

• Haryana State Government: MoEFCC, India 
• Heritage Lottery Fund 
• Heritage Lottery Fund – Heritage Grants 
• Heritage Lottery Fund – Living Levels 
 Landscape Partnership 
• Heritage Lottery Fund – Our Heritage 
• Highlands and Islands Enterprise 
• The Highland Council 
• Mines Restoration Ltd 
• Ministry of Environment, Forest & Climate 
 Change, Government of India 
• Moors for the Future Partnership 
• Natural England 
• Natural England – Action for Birds in England 
 partnership 
• Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) 
• Natural Resources Wales/Cyfoeth Naturiol 
 Cymru 
• New Forest Association 
• New Forest National Park Authority 
• Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
• North Ayrshire Council 
• Orkney Islands Council 
• Orkney Islands LEADER Programme 
 2014–2020 
• Partnerships for Forests – funded by the UK 
 Department for International Development 
• Peak District National Park Authority 
• Rural Development Programme for England 
 (RDPE) 
• Rural Perth & Kinross LEADER 
• Scottish Government and the European 
 LEADER 2014–2020 Programme 
• Scottish Government Rural Payments and 
 Inspections Directorate 
• Scottish Natural Heritage 
• Scottish Natural Heritage Peatland Action Fund 
• Scottish Rural Development Programme 
• Solway Wetlands Landscape Partnership 
 through Allerdale Borough Council 
• Special European Union Programmes Body 
 (SEUPB) 
• Sport England 
• Stirling Council 
• Teignbridge District Council 
• UK Government – Conflict, Stability and 
 Security Fund (CSSF) 
• USAID: West Africa Biodiversity and Climate 
 Change 
• VisitAberdeenshire 
• Waterways Ireland 
• Welsh Government – Core Funding 
• Welsh Government – Glastir 
• West Bengal State Government: 
 MoEFCC, India 
• West Sussex County Council 
• Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority 
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ENGLAND

Midlands Office
1st Floor, One Cornwall Street
Birmingham  
B3 2JN
Tel: 01767 693777

Eastern England Office
Stalham House, 65 Thorpe Road,  
Norwich NR1 1UD 
Tel: 01603 660066

London Area Office
5th Floor, 50 Southwark Street,
London, SE1 1UN 
Tel: 0207 940 3050

Northern England Offices
Westleigh Mews, Wakefield Road,  
Denby Dale, Huddersfield HD8 8QD

1 Sirius House, Amethyst Road,  
Newcastle Business Park,  
Newcastle upon Tyne NE4 7YL 

7.3.1 Cameron House,  
White Cross Estate, Lancaster  
LA1 4XF
For all offices: 
Tel: 0300 777 2676 

South East England Office
1st Floor, Pavilion View,  
19 New Road, Brighton,  
East Sussex BN1 1UF
Tel: 01273 775333

South West England Office
4th Floor (North Block), 
Broadwalk House
Southernhay West, 
Exeter, EX1 1TS
Tel: 01392 432691 

NORTHERN IRELAND

Northern Ireland Headquarters
Belvoir Park Forest, Belfast 
BT8 7QT 
Tel: 028 9049 1547

SCOTLAND

Scotland Headquarters
2 Lochside View, Edinburgh Park,  
Edinburgh EH12 9DH  
Tel: 0131 317 4100

East Scotland Office
10 Albyn Terrace, Aberdeen  
AB10 1YP 
Tel: 01224 624824

North Scotland Office
Etive House, Beechwood Park, 
Inverness IV2 3BW  
Tel: 01463 715000

South and West Scotland Office
10 Park Quadrant, Glasgow  
G3 6BS  
Tel: 0141 331 0993

WALES

Wales Headquarters
Castlebridge 3,  
5-19 Cowbridge Road East,  
Cardiff, CF11 9AB 
Tel: 029 2035 3000

North Wales Office
Uned 14, Llys Castan, Ffordd y Parc,  
Parc Menai, Bangor, Gwynedd  
LL57 4FH
Tel: 01248 672850

UK HEADQUARTERS
The RSPB, The Lodge, Sandy, Bedfordshire SG19 2DL. Tel: 01767 680551

Contact us

rspb.org.uk

Cover photo by David Tipling Photo Library / Alamy Stock Photo
The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity:  
England & Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654. 500-1552-17-18.

The RSPB is a member of BirdLife International,  
a partnership of nature conservation organisations  
working to give nature a home around the world.


